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PFMA Public Finance Management Act 
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It is a great honour to present the annual report for the 2018/19 

financial year outlining performance outcomes against the 

predetermined strategic objectives of the Universal Service and 

Access Agency of South Africa. 

My fellow interim Board members and I welcomed the opportunity 

in September 2018 to take office at the Universal Service and Access 

Agency of South Africa (USAASA/the Agency), for however long it 

would take to appoint a permanent Board.

The Agency was established by the Electronic Communications 

Act of 2005 (ECA) mainly to ensure that all South Africans, 

irrespective of geographic boundaries and economic status, 

have access to broadband infrastructure and services. For the 

Agency to achieve this, the ECA also established the Universal 

Service and Access Fund (USAF/the Fund) to be managed by the 

Agency. The Fund is financed by the contributions from electronic 

communications service, electronic communications network 

service and broadcasting service licensees. Therefore, USAASA  has 

an immense responsibility and influence in South Africa’s move to 

inclusive broadband connectivity. Its role is pivotal in the realisation 

of Medium-term Strategic Framework (MTSF) priorities to expand 

broadband access throughout the country and ensure that at least 

90% of communities have substantial and superfast broadband 

capacity by 2020. 

National Development Plan (NDP) Vision 2030 also calls loudly on 

USAASA – with USAF – as its work is crucial to the creation of a 

totally connected nation in just over a decade.

Identifying the issues
The Board arrived at the organisation during a period of sluggish 

performance, leadership uncertainty and legal proceedings. The 

Board was  more than ready to assess the situation and provide 

guidance that would set the organisation on a more productive 

and successful path as it moves closer to its new role as the Digital 

Development Fund (DDF).  

ADV WILLIAM HUMA

FOREWORD BY 

CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD
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The Board induction, followed by a strategy workshop, allowed 

us to familiarise ourselves with the governance issues facing the 

Agency and the operational activities that occupy its thoughts and 

time. We identified key areas where interventions were called for 

– internal controls needed to be strengthened, and systems and 

procedures could be tightened up to improve audit outcomes.

The Risk Management Committee was reconstituted and the 

committee refocused on analysing the root causes of poor 

performance, rather than just treating the symptoms. 

The combined assurance was further strengthened by the assistance 

of the Independent Communications Authority of South Africa 

(ICASA) and the Auditor-General South Africa (AGSA), as the third 

line of defence with the audit reviews on broadband. Our decision 

to prioritise combined assurance and give it a new lease of life has 

brought the Agency three effective lines of defence: management, 

internal risk function, and internal and external assurance providers. 

Reports and policies
We also spent considerable time scrutinising the Public Protector’s 

report on the suspension of the previous CEO and its remedial 

actions, which are binding on USAASA and the Board. Board 

members and management attended a Protected Disclosures 

Act 2000 workshop convened in December by the National 

School of Government and the Department of Public Service and 

Administration. An internal policy on the Act has been submitted 

to the Board for approval  and will encourage USAASA employees 

to raise their concerns and report wrongdoing at work without fear 

of victimisation. This policy is an important tool to promote a safe, 

accountable and responsive workplace. 

The Board also monitored the implementation of  the action plan 

emanating from a Special Investigating Unit (SIU) report pertaining 

to a 2012/13 dispute that surfaced during the year under review. 

The action plan responds to control weaknesses in the Agency, 

concentrating on probity checks and close monitoring of capacity 

of service providers for broadband and connectivity projects. As 

poor contract management revealed itself during the Board’s 

induction workshop, this demanded close attention. A new contract 

management policy was drawn up on SIU recommendation and 

approved by the Board . The Board also approved  the revised 

supply chain management and subsistence and travel policies, and 

materiality and significance framework necessitated by the Auditor-

General’s 2017/18 audit findings.

The Board will further monitor the USAASA implementation of 

action plans to mitigate audit outcomes of the AGSA and Internal 

Audit. These implementation action plans will be reported quarterly 

to the Board

Enterprise resource planning
The SAP controversy, which began in 2016, raged on during the year. 

The genesis of the problem was the specification of maintenance 

and support services for SAP, which, although detailed in the bid and 

the service level agreement, somehow fell outside the contract. This 

has necessitated the conclusion of a series of short-term contracts 

for support, which is not cost-effective, nor ideal for continuity of 

service and the integrity of the enterprise resource planning (ERP) 

system. In the 2018/19 financial year, the Board asked Internal Audit 

to review SAP/ERP support and maintenance. Having received 

and studied the reports, the Board supported Internal Audit’s 

recommendation to commission a forensic audit in respect with 

the anomalies of the exclusion of support and maintenance on the 

acquisition of systems. This audit will be concluded during 2019/20.

 

Performance 
USAASA rationalised its performance objectives from 24 in 2017/18 

to just four in the year under review, namely:

• Improved risk management services;

•  Increased utilisation of the information and communications 

technology (ICT) system;

•  Improved responsiveness by USAASA to the needs of 

underserviced and unserved communities through research 

and development, and

•  A smooth transition from USAASA/USAF to DDF.

Against these targets, it achieved 50%, which was a moderate 

improvement on the 42% of 2017/18. 

Continued governance and operational enhancements should 

result in further improvement in the 2019/20 year.

To provide a fitting backdrop for performance reporting, the Board 

worked with the acting Chief Executive Officer (CEO) during the 

year to ensure that the strategic and annual performance plans are 

fully compliant with the National Treasury Framework for Strategic 

Plans and Annual Performance Plans and aligned to the strategic 

indicators and annual targets for 2019/20. The alignment ensures 

that both the USAASA and USAF plans fully conform to SMART 

principles and that the technical indicator descriptors gel with the 

programme performance indicators to facilitate measurability of 

targets. 

The Board also strived to entrench the principles of accountability 

with regards for poor performance throughout all levels of staff 

at the Agency. The Board mandated the acting CEO to apply 

consequence management against non-performers so that there 

would be improvement in performance.
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The USAASA Annual Performance Plan 2019/20 was submitted to 

the Executive Authority by the National Treasury deadline.

Among its recommended corrective measures, the Board proposed 

combined assurance from Internal Audit, Legal Services and 

Performance Monitoring on contract management and service 

level agreements.

Appreciation 
It has been an eventful and, in many ways, rewarding year for 

members of the Board and, for that, we thank Minister Stella Tembisa 

Ndabeni-Abrahams and her team, whose constant support assisted 

us to get to grips with the issues facing the Agency. 

As we move into 2019/20, we pledge our unwavering commitment 

to USAASA and USAF and will always be available to the management 

and staff of the Agency to provide direction in meeting their 

mandate. We thank the acting CEO and staff of USAASA for taking 

the organisation forward with dedication befitting the significance 

of its work to the country’s wellbeing. I would like to also thank the 

Portfolio Committee of Telecommunications and Postal Services for 

their support and leadership.

I am a firm believer in the power of getting the basics right. The 

basics for USAASA include performance information free of material 

mistakes and financials performance free of misstatements. We 

have made progress in these areas already. We will now take the 

basics from right to perfect, after which all else will flow. 

Adv William Huma

Chairperson
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It was another demanding year for USAASA, during which contract 

and performance issues of previous years lingered. But 2018/19 was 

certainly not without its high points, with significant court rulings in 

our favour and performance showing a slight, but pleasing, upward 

trend.

We welcomed an interim Board in September 2018,after the 

Minster of Telecommunications and Postal Services Dr Siyabonga 

Cwele  dissolved the previous Board in August 2018.

The new Board lost no time in gaining a thorough understanding 

of the issues facing the Agency and USAF, and was quick to 

respond with proactive, positive steps to improve governance and 

operational elements, based on its findings. 

For the team at USAASA, the Board’s enthusiasm for its task was 

proof that the work done by the Agency is indeed of great value 

and a signal that, with refinements and enhancements, it can be 

doubly so. 

We are again proud to have received an unqualified audit from the 

Auditor-General, , but with matters of emphasis that we will work 

rigorously to correct before the next audit. In relation to the Audit 

of Predetermined Objectives, there were no material findings raised 

by the Auditor-General. 

Of the items on the action plans formulated following the Auditor-

General’s 2017/18 report, 72% of those for USAASA have been 

completed and 59% of those for USAF. The steps for both were late 

in being implemented but are now on track for complete resolution. 

The improvements in controls and internal auditing processing 

should make our coveted clean audit a reality before too long. 

For the last three years, the Internal Audit  and Risk Management 

functions have  not been acknowledged by management, but 

this has been rectified and is paying dividends in, for example, our 

performance information, which is free of material findings for the 

first time.  

FOREWORD BY 

ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

SIPHO MNGQIBISA
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The combined assurance model as outlined  by the Chairperson 

proved itself in two major projects during 2018/19, one for 

broadband connectivity, and the other for SAP, a long-standing 

issue with its roots in contract specifications. Each audit pointed to 

the need for a forensic investigation, which will be instituted in the 

new financial year. 

Resolving challenges 
The Agency’s biggest challenge remained the SAP ERP system and 

the absence of maintenance and support as part of the concluded 

contract. Inconsistencies have been uncovered in the procurement 

process for the system, as the original terms of reference specified 

three years of support and maintenance to be provided. The reasons 

why the original bid specifications did not flow through to the final 

contract will be thoroughly investigated in the coming year, with a 

view to recovering costs from those implicated in the matter. 

For the Fund, BDM stock is a perennial challenge. To recap briefly on 

this project, in August 2015, we signed agreements with six service 

providers for the manufacture of STBs and related equipment. 

These manufacturers duly started to produce and deliver boxes 

and antennae. In its 2016/17 audit, the Auditor-General declared 

the procurement process irregular, which led to the suspension of 

manufacturing, after which the six providers took up the arbitration 

clause in their contracts. The Board requested that the matter be 

set aside and legal counsel was appointed to pursue this. The court 

granted the set aside during the year under review. 

Three of the providers then instituted arbitration related to the 

variance in the exchange rate from the time of the award of the 

contract, when the rate was R12 to the dollar, and the time of 

ordering foreign components, when it was around R16. The claim 

was about R180 million, which USAASA contested. The claims were 

set down for hearings, and the first, for R43 million, went our way. 

This prompted the other two claimants to drop their cases. One of 

the two was subsequently liquidated by VBS Mutual Bank.

At year-end, two service providers had completed their contract 

according to the original purchase order, while the liquidated entity 

will complete delivery by October 2019.

Stock control deficiencies have also plagued the BDM project, which 

has an inventory of about R500 million. USAASA relies on SAPO 

for warehousing and logistics. During 2017/18, the Agency was 

instructed to accelerate the uptake of digital terrestrial television 

equipment through bulk installations.  Beneficiaries would no 

longer collect their STBs from a SAPO branch. By year-end, it was 

found that some equipment could not be located as a result of 

ineffective stock control.  

Following that finding, management began in earnest to recover 

inventory from installers. SAPO opened a facility in Jet Park, Gauteng, 

to receive and store returned inventory by installers. The process 

moved slowly until efforts were ramped up late in the financial year. 

The original intention was to manage the BDM inventory through 

SAP, but we have not been able to create the interface with the 

SAPO system so stock management is still manual. 

Achievement against targets
We entered the 2018/19 year with a much pared-down set of 

performance targets, having had 24 targets the previous year 

to address the controls and accountability matters raised in the 

Auditor-General’s previous year audit findings. 

Against a target of 75% of risks detailed in the Risk Management 

Plan mitigated, we achieved 90%.

In addition, we achieved 100% use of functioning SAP ERP modules. 

Against the third objective, which aims for improved responsiveness 

by USAASA to the needs of the underserviced and unserved 

communities through research and development, the final impact 

assessment studies for Joe Morolong and Ratlou municipalities 

were developed by year-end, but approved by Exco only after 31 

March 2019. 

The final indicator was the most contentious, as it deals with 

development of a costed transitional framework for DDF. This 

indicator was dependent on the Department of Communications 

tabling in Parliament the draft bill on the DFF. At year-end, the bill 

was still in draft. 

There is also the question of whether the indicator should sit with 

the Ministry or USAASA, as an entity established by law should not 

develop its own costing model.  

Appreciation
My colleagues at USAASA have worked in difficult, stressful 

conditions in recent times and these obviously hamper 

performance, but all team members know that what the Agency 

does affects the quality of life of the country’s most deserving 
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citizens and this has kept them focused on the goals we have set. 

Although our performance has suffered recently, the signs of a 

resurgence are beginning to show and for that, I commend USAASA 

staff. Without your efforts, not only would there be no improvement 

in performance, but there would be no Agency and no beneficiaries 

of a service that brings a little joy into lives.

To the interim Board, your decisive action and insightful leadership 

have set a tone for the organisation that we will continue in the 

coming years. 

We look forward to taking your work forward as we all enjoy the 

advantages of this exciting connected era in which we live.

Mr Sipho Mngqibisa

Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of responsibility and confirmation of the 
accuracy of the annual report

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report are con-

sistent with the annual financial statements audited by the Auditor 

General.

The annual report is complete, accurate and is free from any omis-

sions.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the guide-

lines on annual reports issued by National Treasury.

The annual financial statements (Part E) have been prepared in ac-

cordance with the Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) 

standards applicable to the Agency. The accounting authority is re-

sponsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements and 

for the judgments made in this information.

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and imple-

menting the system of internal control, which has been designed to 

provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the 

performance information, the human resources information and the 

annual financial statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opin-

ion on the annual financial statements.

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, per-

formance information, human resources information and financial 

affairs of the entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

Sipho Mngqibisa

Acting Chief Executive Officer

31 July 2019
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To facilitate the rollout of adequate ICT infrastructure to  enable 
universal access to underserviced areas in South Africa; and

To facilitate ICT service to underserviced areas, thereby 
contributing to the reduction of poverty and unemployment 
in South Africa.

Universal access and service to ICT for all

USAASA 
VISION

USAASA
MISSION

Strategic Overview

USAASA
VALUES

Improved We believe in providing excellent, efficient and 
effective service to all customers and stakeholders.

Integrity
We uphold high standards of trust, honesty and 
respect in all interactions with stakeholders; and 
condemn bribery and corruption.

Innovation We foster employee ownership and responsibility 
in ensuring quality service.

Transparency We support employee creativity in delivering all 
our services.

Teamwork
We encourage openness in all our activities.
We strive to create a harmonious work environment, 
where all employees and contributors are respected.

USAASA 
STRATEGIC 

GOALS

Strategic Plan Goal
An optimally functioning USAASA that effectively delivers against its 

mandate
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Legislative and other Mandates

Constitutional Mandates
The Constitution of South Africa (1996) describes the Bill of Rights as a 

cornerstone of democracy in South Africa and states that: ‘It enshrines 

the rights of all people in our country and affirms the democratic 

values of human dignity, equality and freedom.’ Section 16 of the 

Bill of Rights underpins the higher guiding principle of USAASA’s 

mandate to provide access and service that will ensure freedom of 

expression for the people of South Africa:

16. Freedom of Expression

1. Everyone has the right to freedom of expression, which includes:

 a. Freedom of the press and other media;
 b. Freedom to receive or impart information or ideas;
 c. Freedom of artistic creativity; and
 d. Academic freedom and freedom of scientific research.

The right to free expression has been interpreted as a right to the 

resources, facilities and equipment to enable free expression. It 

follows that the right to have access to telecommunication resources, 

facilities and equipment is a basic right in South Africa. In addition, 

Section 32 of the Bill of Rights also describes the ‘Right to information’ 

and if access is limited due to a lack of ICT resources and facilities, this 

right cannot be fulfilled.

Legislative Mandates
The existence, functions, duties and mandate of the Agency are 

governed by sections 80 to 91 of the Electronic Communications 

Act 36 of 2005 (ECA), which came into operation on 19 July 2006. 

The new amendments to the ECA, which have a direct bearing on 

governance of the Agency, came into operation on 21 May 2014.

The Agency is a public body defined by Schedule 3A of the Public 

Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA).

The ECA establishes a Board of the Agency (appointed by the 

Minister of Telecommunications and Postal Services). The Board, in 

turn, appoints a Chief Executive Officer (CEO) in concurrence with the 

Minister. The Agency is under the direction and control of the CEO 

and it is funded by money appropriated from Parliament. The ECA 

also established the Universal Service and Access Fund (Fund), which 

is financed by contributions from electronic communications service, 

electronic communications network service and broadcasting service 

licensees. The money in the Fund must be used for specific subsidies 

to needy persons, underserviced areas and educational institutions.

In terms of the ECA, the Agency must:

•  strive to promote the goal of universal access and universal 

service;

•  encourage, facilitate and offer guidance to any scheme providing 

universal access, universal service or telecommunication 

services in terms of the Reconstruction and Development Plan 

(RDP);

•  foster the adoption and use of new methods of attaining 

universal access and service;

•  make recommendations to enable the Minister to determine 

what constitutes universal access, universal service and 

underserviced areas;

•  conduct research into and keep abreast of developments in 

the Republic and elsewhere on ICT, electronic communications 

services and electronic communications facilities;

•  continually survey and evaluate the extent to which universal 

access and service have been achieved;

•  make recommendations to the Minister on policy on any 

matter relating to universal access and service;

•  advise the ICASA on any matter relating to universal access and 

universal service;

•  continually evaluate the effectiveness of the ECA and what is 

done in terms thereof towards the achievement of the goal of 

universal access and service;

•  manage USAF according to the Act;

•  submit annual reports on its operations, budget and expenses 

to the Minister;

•  use the USAF exclusively for the payment of certain subsidies; 

and

•  provide incentives to network licensees to construct, operate 

and maintain networks in areas declared underserviced by 

ICASA.

In terms of the most recent amendments to the ECA, the distinctions 

between public and independent schools and between public and 

private colleges have fallen away and the scope of USAF subsidies has 

been increased to include provision to independent schools, private 

colleges and primary healthcare facilities. In addition, USAASA is 

subjected to the PFMA to improve its governance.  The amendments 

also seek to ensure there is consistency in provisions relating to 
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universal access, universal service and needy persons. Finally, the 

Minister of Telecommunications and Postal Services, acting with the 

concurrence of the Minister of Finance, may prescribe additional uses 

for money held in USAF.

The National Integrated ICT Policy White Paper approved by Cabinet 

on 28 September 2016 makes recommendations on new or amended 

legislation arising from the White Paper. The most significant proposal 

with respect to universal access and service is the creation of the 

Digital Development Fund (DDF), which would replace USAASA and 

USAF. It would exclude the policy- and regulation-making functions 

currently with the Agency, and the Fund would be responsible in the 

main for identifying, awarding and managing projects.

Policy Mandates

Medium-term Strategic Framework

The priorities of the five-year MTSF are:

1.  Creation of more jobs, decent work and sustainable livelihoods 

for inclusive growth;

2. Rural development, land reform and food security;

3. Education;

4. Health; and

5. Fighting crime and corruption.

These priorities are supported by various strategies.  USAASA is 

directly impacted by the first priority, related to economic growth and 

job creation through industrialisation and infrastructure expansion.  

USAASA operates directly in ICT, and it is further indicated in the 

priorities that there is a need rapidly to expand access to, and use of, 

ICT infrastructure as follows:

•  Invest in a comprehensive plan to expand broadband access 

throughout the country and substantially reduce the cost of 

communication;

•  Connect all schools, public health and other government 

facilities through broadband, and ensure that at least 90% 

of communities have substantial and superfast broadband 

capacity by 2020;

•  Support and develop free Wi-Fi areas in cities, towns and rural 

areas.

National Development Plan

The NDP aims to eradicate poverty, increase employment and reduce 

inequality by 2030.  The NDP encompasses critical policy instruments 

that drive government’s policy agenda, namely:

•  The New Growth Path (NGP), which focuses on economic 

development;

•  The National Infrastructure Plan, which guides the rollout 

of infrastructure and includes the Presidential Infrastructure 

Coordinating Commission (PICC) Strategic Integration Project 

(SIP-15);

•  Industrial Policy Action Plan, which supports the 

reindustrialisation of the economy.

NDP goals that have an influence on USAASA’s strategy and work 

include:

•  Implementation of an integrated e-strategy for the country;

•  100% broadband penetration by 2020 (>2mbs); 

•  By 2030, deployment of a full range of government, educational 

and information services. 

NGP strategies

Jobs Driver 3: Seizing the potential of new economies.  Technological 

innovation opens the opportunity for substantial employment 

creation. 

The NGP targets the creation of 100 000 new jobs by 2020 in the 

knowledge-intensive sectors of ICT, higher education, healthcare, 

mining-related technologies, pharmaceuticals and biotechnology. 

SIP-15: Expanding Access to Communication Technology 

Aim: 100% access to digital ICTs to all South Africans by 2020 as a 

driver of new economic opportunities and digital equity.  Interim 

implementing agencies include Sentech, BBI, Telkom, SANRAL, 

Eskom, Transnet, USAASA and the private sector.
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South Africa’s Broadband Policy: South Africa Connect
In terms of the ECA, the Department of Communications of South Africa published a policy document titled ‘South Africa Connect: Creating 

opportunities, ensuring inclusion: South Africa’s broadband policy’, which was gazetted on 6 December 2013.

SA Connect Targets

Target Penetration Measure Baseline 
(2013)

By 2016 By 2020 By 2030

Broadband access in Mbps 
user experience

% of population 33.7%
internet
access

50% at 5Mbps 90% at  5Mbps
50% at 100Mbps

100% at 10Mbps
80% at  100Mbps

Schools % of schools 25%
connected

50% at 10 
Mbps

100% at 10Mbps
80% at 100Mbps

100% at 1Gbps

Health facilities % of health facilities 13%
connected

50% at 
10Mbps

100% at 10Mbps
80% at 100Mbps

100% at 1Gbps

Public sector facilities % of government office 50% at 5Mbps 100% at 10Mbps 100% at 100Mbps

SA Connect is a four-pronged strategy of sub-strategies, which will move the country from the current state to achieving its targets over the next 

10 years. The four prongs or sub-strategies of SA Connect are:

• Digital readiness

• Digital development

• Digital future

• Digital opportunity

Each of the strategies is depicted in the diagram below.

SA Connect guides the ICT sector as a whole, and USAASA in particular, in the approach to be taken to promote broadband deployment, usage 

and uptake in the country.

1 Source: DTPS, 2014

10 YEARS

CURRENT STATE

Roadmapping Digital Future:
National broadbrand network

Digital Readiness:
Policy, regulation and institutional capacity

Monitoring and evaluation

Digital Opportunities:
Skills and institutional capabilities, R&D, innovation and 

entrepreneurship, content and applications 

Digital Development:
Public sector demand aggregation to address critical gaps

TARGETS

SA Connect Strategies1 
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Planned Policy Initiatives

ICT Policy Review

The ICT Policy review process was informed by three main institutional frameworks, which guided the research and review of all existing policy. 

The figure below unpacks each institutional framework into focus areas. 

ICT Policy Review – Institutional Frameworks 

 

Supply Side/Infrastructure Demand Side/Uptake and Usage Industry Growth 

• Spectrum policy
•   Open access and facilities sharing – OAWN 

and OAFN
•   Rapid deployment
•   Competition
•   Account separation
•   Interconnection
•   Numbering
•   Licensing framework
•   Universality – availability, accessibility, 

interoperability, quality

•   e-Government
•   Universal access – affordability, e-Literacy, 

awareness, relevance, language
•   e-Commerce
•   Competition 
•   Applications and services
•   Trust and security
•   Other content

•   Reseach and development
•   Manufacturing
•   Broad-based black economic empowerment 

(BBBEE)
•   Skills development
•   Green ICT
•   e-Waste

INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORKS

The National Integrated ICT Policy White Paper approved by Cabinet 

on 28 September 2016 will have implications on universal service. It 

proposes the revision of services and access based on the outcome 

of research conducted to support the policy revision. The White 

Paper further suggests that USAASA should be reformulated into a 

DDF and stipulates contributions by licensees into the fund. Lastly, 

the report revises the USAASA institutional framework. 

The establishment of a DDF will effectively remove USAASA’s 

policymaking and regulatory functions, leaving the organisation to 

focus on funding and project management. Its  motivation is to allow 

USAASA to focus on its main priority, which is service and access 

delivery to the nation. 

SA Connect: Four-pronged Strategy 

SA Connect guides the ICT sector as a whole, and USAASA 

in particular, in the approach taken to promoting broadband 

deployment, usage and uptake. In all its work, USAASA asks itself: 

‘How does this contribute to meeting the SA Connect targets?’ A 

further consideration is, in what area of SA Connect is the Agency 

doing the most work?  The pillars of USAASA’s 2017 to 2021 strategy 

all advance SA Connect. 

The SA Connect Strategy can be summarised into two main 

interventions: the demand side intervention and the supply side 

intervention. 

•  The supply intervention focuses on infrastructure development 

through private/public investment, achieving completion in 

the industry, building an access or core network, encouraging 

and facilitating infrastructure sharing, coordinating building 

programmes for efficiency, and promoting universal access 

through efficient spectrum allocation and use.

•  The demand-side intervention focuses on driving uptake 

and usage through affordable services and devices, using the 

government as an anchor tenant for the core network, aligning 

the regulatory framework, facilitating ICT skills development 

and e-literacy, and enabling the development of local content, 

applications and niche manufacturing. 

•  SA Connect targets are reviewed periodically and supplemented 

by pricing and quality of service targets, as well as speed of 

installation and fault repair – this review is the domain of ICASA. 
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Organisational Structure 
Below is a high-level depiction of the Agency’s organisational structure for the year under review.

Adv William Huma
Chairperson

Ntombizodwa 
Kutta-Ndhlovu 
Board Member

Sipho Mngqibisa
 Acting Chief Executive Officer 

and Executive Manager: 
Performance

Joel Sihle Ngubane
Board Member

Mapuleng Moropa 
Board Member 

Siyabonga Dube 
Board Member 

Selloane Motloung 
Company Secretary

Lavhelesani 
Netshidzivhani 

Risk Manager and 
Acting Executive Manager: 

Performance

Jimmy Mashiane
Chief Audit Executive

USAASA Board of Directors

Executive Leadership

Lucas Mello
Board Member

(started 1 April 2019)

Keitumetsi Hlahatsi
Brand Communications 

Specialist

Mahomed Chowan
Chief Financial Officer

Trevor Nivi
Senior Manager

Research and 
Acting Executive Manager: 

Operations

Willem Olivier
Senior Manager 

Legal Services and
Acting Executive Manager: 

Corporate Services

Moloti Nkune
Senior Manager 

Information Technology
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Board Of Directors’ Profiles
Board Appointed in 2015 to 2018

Name Mawethu Cawe
Designation Acting Chairperson: Board of Directors
Date appointed 1 September 2015
Date resigned 30 August 2018
Qualifications • University of the Witwatersrand: Certificate in Industrial Relations (CPIR),

• University of the Witwatersrand: Certificate in Executive Coaching and Mentoring, 2009 
• University of South Africa (UNISA): Advanced Diploma in Labour Law
• University of the Witwatersrand: Postgraduate Diploma (Human Resources) 
• University of Fort Hare: Bachelor of Arts    
• (BA) in Communications
• University of the Witwatersrand: Master’s in Management

Areas of expertise • Human resources management
• Labour relations
• Leadership 
• Strategy

Board directorship • Amawethu Farm (Director)
• Amawethu Investment (Director)

Other committees None
No of meetings attended 6

Name Tshegofatso Maloka
Designation Member: Board of Directors
Date appointed 1 September 2015
Date resigned 30 August 2018
Qualifications • University of the Witwatersrand: 

• B Com Accounting 
• University of Natal: B Com       
• Honours 

Areas of expertise • Finance and accounting
• Auditing
• Risk management
• Governance

Board directorship • Botlhale 304 Services (Pty) Ltd (Director)
• Ponagatso ya Botlhale (Director)
• Tshoganyetso (Director)

Other committees • Board Audit and Risk Committee (Alternate member)
• Human Resources and Remuneration Committee

No of meetings attended 4

17 P A R T  A :  G E N E R A L  I N F O R M A T I O N
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Name Linda Nene

Designation Member: Board of Directors

Date appointed 12 December 2016

Date resigned 30 August 2018

Qualifications •  University of Cape Town: B Com (Accounting)
•  Monash University: Postgraduate Diploma in Management (specialising in Corporate Governance)
•  The Institute of Internal Auditors:

 -  CCSA (Certification in Control Self-Assessment)

 -  GIA (SA) (General Internal Auditor – SA)

 -  FIIASA (Fellow of the Institute of Internal Auditors SA)
•  CRMA (Certification in Risk Management Assurance) Compliance Institute of South Africa (CISA):
•  CCP (Certified Compliance Professional of the Compliance Institute of South Africa)
•  CPrac (SA) – (Compliance Practitioner)
•  Southern Business School: Risk Management Strategies in the Public Sector
•  Institute for International Research: Management Development Programme

Areas of expertise • Finance
• Auditing
• Risk management
• Governance

Board directorship • Izithenjwa Investments (Director)
• Onjengaye Investments (Director)
• Work Dynamics (Pty) Ltd

Other committees • BARC (Chairperson)
• Operations Committee
• Social and Ethics Committee

No of meetings attended 6

Name Adv  Lungelwa Shandu

Designation Member: Board of Directors

Date appointed 1 September 2015

Date resigned 30 August 2018

Qualifications • Postgraduate Qualification – LLB – University of Durban Westville
• Graduate Qualification – B Proc – University of Durban Westville
• Master’s in Public Policy Management (incomplete) – University of the Witwatersrand
• Certificate – Deliberative Democracy – Kettering Foundation, Dayton, Ohio USA
• Certificate – Voice Training for Public Speaking – Voice Clinic
• Certificate Substantive Law, Conciliation, Jurisdictional Rulings, Managing Dismissals and Arbitration – 

CCMA
• Certificate (Conduct Outcomes-based Assessment) – PALAMA
• Certificate (Training Facilitator) – Siyanqoba

Areas of expertise • Legal 
• Labour relations
• Business alignment with government policy and 
• Regulations
• Contracts
• Leadership 
• Governance

Board directorship Firearms Appeal Board – Ministry of Police

Other committees • Operations Committee (Chairperson) 
• Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
• Social and Ethics Committee

No of meetings attended 6
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Name Nqabekaya Nqandela 

Designation Member: Board of Directors

Date appointed 1 September 2015

Date resigned 15 August 2018

Qualifications • Programme in Project – University of Pretoria    
• Management – University of Pretoria  
• National Diploma: Electrical – Cape Peninsula University 
• Engineering – Cape Peninsula University 
• Certificate in Convergence and New Media in the information Society - University of the Witwatersrand
• Certificate in Telecommunication Policy, Regulation and Management - University of the Witwatersrand  
• Master’s in Business – Milpark Business School
• Administration (MBA) – Milpark Business School

Areas of expertise • ICT Policy and Regulatory 
• Strategic planning

Board directorship • Amazotsho Investment 
• Holding (Executive Chairman)
• Schloss Consulting  (Director)
• Amazotsho Consulting (Director)

Other committees

No of meetings attended 4

Name Xola Stock

Designation Member: Board of Directors

Date appointed 12 December 2016

Date resigned 30 August 2018

Qualifications • B Com (Accounting and Economics) UCT
• PGDA (CTA)
• M Com International Accounting

Areas of expertise • Finance
• HR

Board directorship Makhulong A Matala Trust (Director)

Other committees • Social and Ethics Committee (Chairperson)
• Board Audit and Risk Committee
• Human Resources and Remuneration Committee

No of meetings attended 5

Name  Jabulile Nkosi

Designation Member: Board of Directors

Date appointed 12 December 2016

Date resigned 30 August 2018

Qualifications • Higher Diploma Computer Auditing
• Certified Internal Auditor
•  Certified Information Systems Auditor
•  International Internal Quality Assessment /validation course
•  B Comp ( Accountancy)

Areas of expertise • Finance
• Auditing
• Governance

Other committees • BARC

• Operations Committee

No of meetings attended 6
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Name Adv William Huma

Designation Chairperson – Interim Board

Date appointed 30 August 2018

Date resigned N/A

Qualifications • B Proc
• LLB (Bachelor of Laws) 
• LLM (Master of Laws)
• LLD (Doctor of Laws)
• Course work and oral examination passed cum laude (Thesis outstanding) Degree not yet conferred   
• Visiting research student
• Research for the Doctor of Laws Degree
• Graduate Diploma in Company Direction (Corporate Governance, Marketing, Financial Management, 

Company Law and Huma Resources Management)
• Financial Management (Finance for Non-Financial Managers)
• Various Certificates of Attendance in Programme/Project Management, Human Capital  Management,  

Performance Management, Change Management, Management Consulting, Organisational Design and 
Organisational Development

Areas of expertise • Corporate and business strategy, corporate and business performance management, corporate 
governance, compliance, risk management, regulatory affairs, human capital management, marketing 
and business development, business process improvement, change management, project management.

Board directorship • Current Chairperson of USAASA Interim Board
• Current Board Member of the National Lotteries Commission  
• Current Chairperson: Audit Committee of the City of Ekurhuleni and its entities (Brakpan Bus Service, 

Ekurhuleni Development Company and Ekurhuleni Water Company (ERWAT)
• Chairperson: Audit and Risk Committee of the Office of the Chief Justice
• Current Chairperson:  Disciplinary Board of Rustenburg Local Municipality

Other committees • Current Chairperson of the Board Committee on Distributing/Grants Agencies 
• Current Member of the following Board Committees of the National Lotteries Commission: Audit   

and Risk Committee, HR and Remuneration Committee, Social and Ethics Committee, Nominations 

Committee and Review/Appeals Committee

No of meetings attended 14

Name Ntombizodwa Kutta-Ndhlovu

Designation Interim Board Member

Date appointed 30 August 2018

Date resigned 22 February 2019

Qualifications •  Legal Education and Development (LEAD)
•  Introduction to Trial Advocacy
•  BLA Legal Education
•  International Training Programme on Utility Regulation and Strategy
•  New Rules on Cross Examination
•  Cyber Law
•  International Regulatory Affairs
•  ICASA Leadership Seminar
•  Leading and Managing Exceptional SOEs
•  Management Advancement Programme
•  Telecommunications Policy, Regulation and Management Programme

Areas of expertise •  Strategic planning
•  Experience in broadcasting and postal matters
•  Teamwork 
•  Conflict resolution
•  Financial management and budgeting

Board directorship USAASA Board

Other committees • Social and Ethics Committee
• Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
• Operations Committee

No of meetings attended 9
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Name Mapuleng Moropa

Designation Interim Board Member 

Date appointed 30 August 2018

Date resigned N/A

Qualifications •  Masters in Business Administration (MBA) 
•  Programme in Management Development (PMD) 
•  BSc Information Technology 

Areas of expertise • Strategy design and implementation
• Business process design and re-engineering
• Retail and commercial banking
• People management
• Operations management
• Project management
• Sales management
• Risk management and compliance
• Business performance improvement
• Entrepreneurship and business management
• Relationship management
• Stakeholder engagement
• Broadband infrastructure/Network implementation and maintenance
• Surveillance and access control technology installation and maintenance

Board directorship • USAASA Board
• Non-executive director and board member Thornburg Holdings – March 2014 to 2017 
• Director Battlebay Holdings (Pty) Ltd – 2011 to date 
• Member of the Black Industrialist Advisory Panel: the dti - March 2013 to March 2017 
• Executive Director, M&H Distributors – Jan 2015 to date 
• Director, Ingwesat (Pty) Ltd – July 2017 to date

Other committees • Operations Committee
• Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
• Board Audit and Risk Committee 

No of meetings attended 11

Name Siyabonga Dube

Designation Interim Board Member

Date appointed 30 August 2018

Date resigned N/A

Qualifications •  FQE 1 and 2
•  Bachelor of Accounting 
•  Postgraduate Diploma in Accounting 

Areas of expertise • Financial institution services and risk advisory

Board directorship  Serves on various governance structures of various unlisted companies and an institution of higher learning

Other committees • Board Audit and Risk Committee
• Operations Committee
• Social and Ethics Committee
• Human Resources and Remuneration Committee

No of meetings attended 11
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Name Sihle Ngubane

Designation Interim Board Member

Date appointed 30 August 2018

Date resigned N/A

Qualifications • National Diploma – Information Technology (IT)
• National Diploma in Ministry 
• Finance for Non-Financial Managers
• Public Finance Management and Administration (PFMA)
• Financial Insights for Non-Financial Directors – IoDSA
• Oracle Certified Professional DBA
• Oracle Certified Applications DBA
• Database Securities
• Microsoft Certified Information Technology Professional
• MAP128 – WBS – (incomplete) 

Areas of expertise • Business administration
• Business performance improvement
• Software, hardware, middleware, networking (Oracle, IBM, Fujitsu, HP, SAP, Microsoft, CISCO)
• Reports and reports development
• Software programming
• Change and problem management
• Systems development, data modelling, Oracle designer
• IT project management
• User training and support
• Website management
• EPMO – Enterprise Project Management Office Formation
• Leadership principles and leadership styles
• Business plan and presentation development
• Business financials analysis
• Strategic management
• Contract management

Board directorship • Board Member –  MICT-SETA 
• Chairperson of the Board – MICT-SETA
• Chairperson of Exco – MICT-SETA
• Board Member – Advance Apps (Pty) Ltd 
• Board Member – Oracle Partner Advisory Board – Oracle Corporation SA
• Board Member – South African Post Office (SAPO) – 2013
• Chairperson – IT Governance Committee (SAPO) – 2013
• Committee Member – Postbank Committee (SAPO) – 2013
• Committee Member – Risk Committee (SAPO) – 2013
• Board Member - (SAPO) – 2015 (re-appointment)
• Chairperson – Postbank Committee (SAPO) – 2015
• Chairperson –  e-Docex – SAPO Subsidiary – 2015
• Committee Member – IT Governance Committee (SAPO) – 2015
• Committee Member – Strategic Turnaround Plan Committee (SAPO) – 2015
• Managing Director – Sizavox (Pty) Ltd 

Other committees • Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
• Social and Ethics Committee
• Board Audit and Risk Committee
• Operations Committee

No of meetings attended 10
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Exco members
Sipho Mngqibisa
Executive Manager: Performance Management  

and Acting Chief Executive Officer 

Qualifications

•  Bachelor of Laws

•  Certificate in Legislative Drafting

•  Certificate in Programme Project Management

•  Certificate in Telecommunications Policy

Mahomed Chowan
Chief Financial Officer

Qualifications

•  Bachelor of Accounting 

•  Postgraduate Diploma in Accounting

•  CA(SA)

Selloane Motloung
Company Secretary

Qualifications

•  Baccalaurius Procurationis Degree

•  Certificate in Legislative Drafting

•  Certificate in Management of Mining and Minerals Policy

Willem Olivier
Senior Manager  Legal Services and 

Acting Executive Manager: Corporate Services

Qualifications

•  B Juris Degree

•  Certificate in Bid Committees in the Public Sector  

•  Admitted Advocate

Trevor Nivi
Senior Manager  Research and 

Acting Executive Manager Operations

Qualifications

• Masters’ in Programme Management with Cranefield College of 

Project Management (in progress)

• Postgraduate Diploma in Project and Programme Management

• Postgraduate Diploma in Telecommunications and Information 

Policy

• Honours in Development Studies

• Bachelor of Arts in Communications

Jimmy Mashiane
Chief Audit Executive

Qualifications

•  National Diploma in Internal Audit 

•  Certificate in Management Advanced Programme

•  Certificate in Fraud Examination

Lavhelesani Netshidzivhani
Risk Manager and Acting Executive Manager: 

Performance Management

Qualifications

•  BCom Accounting Science 

•  Certified Enterprise Risk Manager (IABFM)

•  CIA levels I and II

Keitumetse Hlahatsi
Band Communications Specialist

Qualifications

•  Diploma in Information Technology

•  Certificate in Public Relations Campaign Planning 

•  National Diploma in Public Relations Management (in progress)

Moloti Nkune
Senior Manager ICT

Qualifications

•  Magister Technologiae in Business Information Systems 

•  Baccalaurius Technologiae in Information Technology

•  National Diploma in Information Technology 

•  Cert ITIL Version 3 Intermediate

•  Cert ITIL Version 3 Foundation

•  Certificate in Practical Project Management

•  Certificate in Insight Transformation Leadership 

•  Certificate in Conducting Disciplinary Hearings

•  Certificate in Information Technology Governance

•  Certificate in Diversity Management
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Statement of Responsibility for 
Performance Information

Auditor-General’s Report: Predetermined Objectives  

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for establishing 

and implementing systems of internal control designed to provide 

reasonable assurance of the integrity and reliability of USAASA’s 

reported financial and performance information.

This annual report has been prepared in accordance with the 

Annual Report Guide for Schedule 3A and 3C Public Entities issued 

by National Treasury.    The annual financial statements outlined in 

Part E have been prepared in accordance with Generally Recognised 

Accounting Practice (GRAP) Standards applicable to the Agency and 

the Fund. 

In my opinion, the performance information fairly reflects the actual 

achievements against planned objectives, indicators and targets as 

per the strategic plan and Annual Performance Plan (APP) of the 

public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

Sipho Mngqibisa

Acting Chief Executive Officer

31 July 2019

The Auditor-General South Africa performs the necessary audit 

procedures on the performance information to provide reasonable 

assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on 

the performance against predetermined objectives is included in the 

report to management, with material findings being reported under 

the Predetermined Objectives heading in the report on other legal 

and regulatory requirements section of the auditor’s report. 

Refer to page 57 in the Auditor’s Report, published as Part E: Financial 

Information.

The performance information of the entity set out on pages 32 to 33 

was reviewed by the Board Audit and Risk Committee (BARC) and 

approved by the Board.

The Auditor-General South Africa (AGSA) was engaged to express an 

independent opinion on the USAASA annual financial statements 

for the year under review. The USAASA performance information 

for the year ended 31 March 2019 was also examined by AGSA as 

the external auditor of the Agency and the Fund, and its report is 

represented on pages 56 - 58. 

Adv William Huma

Chairperson of the USAASA Board of Directors

31 July 2019
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The Macro Environment
USAASA executes its mandate in an extremely complex environment, 

which affects not only the Agency directly in making the desired 

impact, but also the success rate of the ICT sector segment that it 

seeks to impact positively. This section broadly explores the critical 

external dependencies that make the implementing environment 

complex, with mixed signals that, in turn, make forecasting the future 

increasingly difficult. 

South Africa’s macroeconomic environment has been under pressure 

for most of the period of USAASA’s strategic plan, characterised by 

a lower-than-expected growth rate, high structural unemployment, 

among the highest inequality levels in the world and unsustainable 

poverty levels. The MTSF 2014 to 2019 period has fallen far short of 

the trajectory required by the NDP to reduce unemployment to 6%, 

eliminate poverty and sharply reduce inequality by 2030.

The figure below reflects that six of the 18 quarters since the 

beginning of 2014 reflected negative economic growth, with 

quarter-on-quarter growth peaking at 4.4% in the fourth quarter 

of 2014. At the end of Q2 2018, the economy had slipped into a 

technical recession following two consecutive quarters of negative 

growth, -2.6% and -0.7% in Q1 and Q2 2018, respectively. 

Situational analysis

South African Economic Growth Over Time
Quarter-on-quarter growth in gross domestic product (GDP)
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While South Africa’s population increased by 4.1%, from 55 million 

people in 2014 to 57.4 million1 in 2018, the economy did not grow 

sufficiently to absorb the increasing number of economically active 

citizens. The increase in the unemployment rate from 25.5% in Q2 

2014 to 27.2% in Q2 2018 attests to the challenge of low economic 

growth. A total of 6.1 million South Africans of working age, out of a 

labour force of 22.4 million people, were unemployed by Q2 2018. 

Particularly concerning is that 39.3% of young people aged between 

15 and 34 years were not in employment, education or training by the 

end of Q2 20182, reflecting a worsening trend. Radical intervention is 

thus required, considering the NDP target of 14% unemployment by 

2020 and 6% by 2030.

This is compounded by South Africa being rated one of the most 

unequal societies in the world and, while extreme poverty rates 

are reducing (the number of people living on less than $1.90 per 

day), the level of overall poverty (those living on less than $5.50 

per day) remains unsustainably high3. Further challenges include 

the depreciating Rand/Dollar exchange rate, from under R12 to the 

Dollar in 2014 to over R14 to the Dollar in 2018. Record level fuel price 

increases, from R13 a litre at the beginning of 2014 to around R17 a 

litre in October 2018, are a lead indicator of the inflationary pressures 

of the economy. 

In spite of these challenges, South Africa remains a top destination 

for foreign direct investment (FDI), attracting the bulk of FDI 

projects destined for the continent, at a share of 20.6% of all FDI 

in 2015. However, prevailing political uncertainty, weak consumer 

and business confidence, and weak domestic demand continue 

to restrain, and the heightened risk premium saw a decline in 

investment by more than 3.9% by 2017. 

Low economic growth has also strained the fiscus. Since 2014, 

government has had to follow a path of measured fiscal consolidation 

by reducing spending. By 2017 and continuing into 2018, a sharp 

deterioration in revenue collection and further downward revisions 

to economic growth projections severely eroded government’s fiscal 

position. With few options, the VAT rate was increased from 14% to 

15% from April 2018. 

Following the election of Cyril Ramaphosa as President of South 

Africa unopposed in the National Assembly on 15 February 2018, 

and his subsequent first State of the Nation Address (SoNA), the 

overall sentiment in South Africa has improved. Positive sentiment 

and business/investor confidence are vital for private sector 

investment in infrastructure development. This has been supported 

by the economic stimulus package announced by the President in 

September 2018, which includes a strong focus on investment in 

infrastructure through the establishment of a R400 billion public/

private infrastructure fund and the President’s drive to generate $100 

billion in private sector investment over the medium-term. 

Despite initial positive sentiment the International Monetary Fund 

(IMF) downgraded South Africa’s gross domestic product (GDP) 

expansion forecast for 2018, joining the World Bank and the South 

African Reserve Bank in lowering growth projections. In its October 

2018 World Economic Outlook Report4, the IMF estimated that the 

economy would grow by 0.8% in 2018, down from the April 2018 

estimate of 1.5%. Economic expansion is projected at 1.4% in 2019, 

noting that while measures to tackle corruption, to strengthen 

procurement and eliminate wasteful expenditure were welcomed, 

further reforms are needed to increase policy certainty, improve 

the efficiency of state-owned enterprises, enhance flexibility in the 

labour market, improve basic education and align training with 

business needs. The IMF further adds that uncertainty in the run-up 

to the 2019 general election also negatively impacted growth.

The implication of this challenging macroeconomic environment 

is that USAASA needs to deploy its limited resources optimally in 

pursuit of its mandate, which requires efficiency, effectiveness and 

economy in its operations and management. This 2019/20 APP for 

the Medium-term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) is particularly 

important as the final push of the approved 2016 to 2020 Strategic 

Plan, thus the need to maximise outputs to achieve the envisaged 

outcomes of the strategic plan. 

ECONOMIC STIMULUS PACKAGE – SPECTRUM ALLOCATION 
AND DIGITAL MIGRATION

•  Unlock value in the telecommunications sector by 

expediting the process of high demand radio spectrum 

allocation to enable licensing, which in turn will increase 

competition, promote investment and reduce data costs.

•  Reduced data costs will provide relief for poorer 

households and increase the overall competitiveness of the 

South African economy.

• Fast-track the digital migration programme.

1 Stats SA, Mid-Year Population Estimates, 23 July 2018

2 Stats SA, Quarterly Labour Force Survey, Quarter 2, 2018 

3 World Bank, 2018

4 International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook Report, October 2018
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Discussed in detail in the USAASA Strategic Plan, the policy and strategy mandates informing the focus and operations of the organisation 

remain as follows:

POLICY KEY POLICY TARGETS PROGRESS (2018)

Sustainable 
Development Goals – 
Connect 2020 Global 
Goals and Targets: GOAL 
2: Inclusiveness – Bridge 
the digital divide and 
provide broadband 
for all

•		55% of houses in the developing world should have access 
to the internet.

•		50% of individuals in the developing world should be using 
the internet.

•		40% affordability gap between developed and developing 
countries should be reduced by 40%.

•		5% broadband services should cost no more than 5% of 
average monthly income in developing countries.

•		90% of the rural population should be covered by 
broadband services.

•		Gender equality among internet users should be reached.
•			Enabling environments ensuring accessible ICT for people 

with disabilities should be established in all countries.

•		National Integrated ICT Policy White Paper gazetted on 3 
October 20165.

•		National e-Strategy 2017 to 2030 (Digital Society South 
Africa) gazetted on 10 November 20186.

•		11% of households with broadband internet access7.
•		9.5% of households with access to the internet at home and 

59.3% with access to the internet anywhere (home, work, 
mobile devices, internet cafes or educational facilities)8.

•		99% population coverage for 3G and 77% population 
coverage for 4G/LTE9.

•			54% of individuals using the internet10:
2.84% fixed broadband access and 58.82% mobile cellular 
access.
•		Number of schools connected to the internet, based on 

obligations imposed by ICASA, increased from 2 862 in 2016 
to 5 268 in 201711.

•		Persons employed in the telecommunications sector 
trended as follows12:

	- 2015: 30 951 (40.3% female);
	- 2016: 26 669 (36% female);
	-		2017: 30 881 (36.7% female).
•		Network Readiness Index: South Africa ranked 65 of 139 

countries in 2016, a marginal improvement since 2014 
(second to Mauritius)13.

NDP Vision 2030 •		Implementation of an integrated e-strategy for the country.
•		100% broadband penetration by 2020 (>2mbs).
•		By 2030, deployment for full range of government, 

educational and informational services.

Medium-term Strategic 
Framework (MTSF) 2014 
to 2019 – Outcome 6

•		Invest in a comprehensive plan to expand broadband 
access throughout the country and substantially reduce the 
cost of communication.

•		Connect all schools, public health and other government 
facilities through broadband by 2020, and at least 90% 
of communities should have substantial and superfast 
broadband capacity by 2020.

•		Support and develop free Wi-Fi areas in cities, towns and 
rural areas.

Department of 
Telecommunications 
and Postal Services 
(DTPS) Strategic Plan 
2015 to 2020

Support the mandate of the DTPS through:
•		Promoting universal access and service to communications 

technologies and services in underserviced areas. 
•		Offering guidance on evaluating, monitoring and 

implementing schemes to improve universal access and 
service in underserviced areas.

Department of 
Communications (DoC) 
Strategic Plan 2015 to 
2020

Collaborate on and support the DoC Broadcast Digital 
Migration Programme:
•		Disburse subsidised set-top boxes (STBs) to approximately 

5 million TV-owning households that are considered needy 
and deserving.

•		From 2018/19, arising from a Cabinet decision (October 
2018),  this project is now replaced with issuing of vouchers 
to qualifying needy households

Performance delivery environment

5 Government Gazette RSA, No 40325, National Integrated ICT Policy White Paper), 3 October 2016 
6 Government Gazette RSA, No 41242, National e-Strategy (Digital Society South Africa), 10 November 2017 
7 After Access Survey 2017, cited in The State of ICT in South Africa, researchICTafrica.net, Gillward A et al, July 2018 
8 After Access Survey 2017, cited in The State of ICT in South Africa, researchICTafrica.net, Gillward A et al, July 2018 
9 Stats SA General Household Survey 2016, cited in The State of ICT Sector Report, ICASA, March 2018 
10 ITU IDI Report 2017, cited in The State of ICT in South Africa, researchICTafrica.net, Gillward A et al, July 2018 
11 The State of ICT Sector Report, ICASA, March 2018 
12 The State of ICT Sector Report, ICASA, March 2018 
13 WEF, 2016, cited in The State of ICT in South Africa, researchICTafrica.net, Gillward A et al, July 2018 



29 P A R T  B :  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N F O R M A T I O N

POLICY KEY POLICY TARGETS PROGRESS (2018)

NGP – Jobs Driver 3 100 000 new jobs by 2020 in the knowledge intensive 
sectors of ICT, higher education, healthcare, mining-related 
technologies, pharmaceuticals and biotechnology. 

PICC SIP-15 100% access to digital ICT to all South Africans by 2020, as a 
driver of new economic opportunities and digital equity.

National Broadband 
Policy

•		Broadband must reach a critical mass of South Africa.
•		Access to broadband must be affordable.
•		Demand-side skills must be developed so broadband 

services can be used effectively.
•		Supply-side skills must be developed so that the economic 

and innovative potential of broadband can be exploited.

SA Connect Strategy By 2020:
Broadband access in Mbps user experience 
•		90% of population at 5Mbps, 50% of population at 

100Mbps.
•		Schools – 100% at 10Mbps, 80% at 100Mbps.
•		Health facilities – 100% at 10Mbps, 80% at 100Mbps.
•		Public sector facilities – 100% at 10Mbps.

USAASA’s responsibility in terms of the broadband mandate is limited 

to the rollout of broadband to underserviced areas. In 2012, 195 (out 

of 226) underserviced local municipalities were identified across 

seven priority provinces. 

The DTPS has further prioritised eight National Health Insurance pilot 

sites in the following municipalities: Dr Kenneth Kaunda, Gert Sibande, 

OR Tambo. Pixley ka Seme, Thabo Mofutsanyane, Umgungundlovu, 

Umzinyathi and Vhembe.

Key broadband deliverables include:

1. Construct or upgrade the backhaul infrastructure;

2. Connect 1 295 sites by 2020;

3.  Connect government facilities such as local municipal offices;

4.  Enable and facilitate the adoption of e-health, e-education, 

e-agriculture and e-government;

5. Rollout of Wi-Fi hotspots; 

6.  Create opportunities for local small, medium and micro 

enterprises (SMMEs).

USAASA rolled out broadband infrastructure at:

1.  165 broadband sites in the three years before the 2016/17 

financial year;

2.  377 sites in OR Tambo District Municipality during the 2016/17 

financial year;

3.  62 and 212 broadband sites in the underserviced municipalities 

of Impendle Local Municipality (KwaZulu-Natal) and Nyandeni 

Local Municipality (Eastern Cape) in 2017/18. 

Furthermore, the implementation of the Broadcast Digital Migration 

(BDM) Policy – which mandated USAASA to subsidise around 5 million 

qualifying, needy households (earning below R3 200 a month) for 

acquisition of STBs – necessitated additional reporting responsibilities 

to DoC, which is responsible for the administration of the BDM Policy 

and the overall oversight of BDM programme implementation. 

Although the requirement emanates from a national policy, USAASA 

has not been adequately resourced. In addition, failed systems 

integration between USAASA and SAPO as a distribution partner in 

the BDM project – has resulted in a loss of inventory through inability 

to implement effective stock control measures. This was a root cause 

of one of the audit findings issued by AGSA on the 2017/18 USAASA 

and USAF financial statements.

From 2018/19 onwards, following the Cabinet decision (October 

2018), this project is replaced with the issuing of vouchers to 

qualifying needy households, although it is necessary to distribute 

the remaining STB inventory.

Alignment of USAASA and the USAF activities to the SA Connect 

Policy, 2013 Phase 1 Implementation Plan has posed a direct challenge 

to the organisation’s capacity requirements and organisational 

structure. More specifically, as discussed in the macroeconomic 

environment section above and emphasised by President Cyril 

Ramaphosa in the 16 February 2018 SoNA, ‘public finances have 

been constrained, limiting the ability of government to expand its 

investment in economic and social development’.
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Organisational environment

As acknowledged in the USAASA 2017/18 annual report, the 

organisation has been through a particularly tumultuous period. 

As part of the 2019/20 planning process, the newly appointed 

transitional Board directed that the organisation carefully assess 

its internal strengths and weaknesses, and external opportunities 

and threats, as the platform from which to plan and prioritise in 

developing the 2019/20 APP. 

The detailed SWOT analysis is available separately, but key issues are 

detailed below, as they inform priorities for 2019/20 planning.

In planning for 2019/20 and the MTEF, USAASA has taken cognisance 

of the low economic growth environment, the constraints on the 

fiscus and thus the harsh reality that there is no additional funding 

available from the fiscus. Furthermore, after paying salaries and 

operational costs, the organisation has only ±40% of its budget 

available for its core business of supporting universal ICT access and 

service. 

Thus, in terms of the USAASA strategic goal:  ‘An optimally functioning 

USAASA that effectively delivers against its mandate’, USAASA’s 

performance worsened from 67% in the 2016/17 financial year to 

42% in 2017/18. However, performance at 2018/19 year-end was 

50%, including:

1) 73% of risks detailed in the Risk Management Plan mitigated;

2)  100% use of functioning SAP enterprise resource planning (ERP) 

modules;

3)  Impact study assessment conducted; and 

4)  Draft costed transition plan from USAASA/USAF to DDF 

framework finalised.

Beyond these specific performance indicators, vital areas of 

performance need be addressed, including:

1)  APP not aligned to the culture of the organisation and the 

principles of SMART (specific, measurable, actionable, realistic 

and timebound), and not effectively cascaded into operational 

plans and performance contracts across the organisation;

2)  Lack of buy-in for the SAP system by key stakeholders;

3)  Poor execution of procurement plans, a lack of contract 

management of appointed service providers and heavy reliance 

on network monitoring systems of service providers;

4)  Poor planning and lack of detailed database of sites deployed in 

prior years to inform decision-making;

5)  Inadequate data (portfolios of evidence) being submitted to 

substantiate claimed connectivity targets and performance; 

and

6)  Lack of a monitoring mechanism for allocated STBs for 

installation to registered users, and also failure by the Agency to 

monitor the service level agreement with SAPO for distribution 

of STBs.

Organisational Performance
There were four planned targets for the Agency in the 2018/19 

financial period, two of which were achieved. This translates into 

50% achievement against target, an 8% year-on-year performance 

progression from the 42% of the 2017/18 financial year. Programme 

2 underperformed in that the assessment report and the DDF 

framework were developed as required but not approved by the 

Executive Committee (Exco) and Board.

IT Internal Processes
Whilst USAASA, through USAF, continues to bridge the digital 

divide experienced mostly in unserved or underserviced rural areas, 

innovation remains key to consumers of its services. Innovation 

should enable the delivery of sustainable services with a greater 

return on investment for the government. The organisation’s buy-in 

to the objective of an integrated government must be put to the test 

throughout the service delivery offering. 

“For years, IT’s mantra was to provide a safe, 
reliable service, following the requirements that 
the business defined. IT expanded to master the 
internet, went mobile, and commercialised digital 
properties – but it was still largely a technology 
shop challenged to drive business value, coaching 
the firm on how best to capatalise on new 
technology and protecting it from outside and 
inside threats.” Forrester

It is no longer debatable whether technology has the ability to 

determine and shape the future of organisations. In fact, most 

organisations that resisted moving with times have gone out of 

business. While the need to be customer driven remains at the centre 

of any business model, an evolving business ecosystem compels IT 

organisations and departments to take on a larger role to ensure 

business success.  

The DTPS is the government driver of the fourth industrial revolution 

(4IR), with the Minister as commander. Opportunities and risks 
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abound, as 4IR is all about connectivity. Without connectivity, there 

cannot be 4IR. With connectivity, risks associated with cybersecurity 

are introduced and experienced daily. The IT systems of most 

organisations, local and international, were recently attacked through 

their IT systems, their data arrested and held for ransom. 

A Massachusetts Institute of Technology Center for Information 

Systems research survey in 2016 revealed that 48% of chief information 

officers cited their responsibility as predominantly leading digital 

initiatives. The other 52% said digital issues are business issues that 

‘should be driven by the leaders of the business units’.

The USAASA SAP ERP system lies at the centre of business operations, 

offering automation of the USAASA and USAF value chain, and 

enables USAASA to create its own big data. At the rate at which 

business operations are moving and with the potential to fully 

utilise other services in the system, it may soon become impractical 

to house the SAP ERP system internally. In addition, through 

interconnectedness, most USAASA systems are available through 

the internet, making them accessible to users everywhere, provided 

there is connectivity through the USAASA access point name. The 

approach to house most of technology systems in the cloud follows 

internet of things trends.

The Agency’s well-researched policies automated into the 

organisation’s technology systems provide a great level of security. 

However, they alone are not adequate, as cybersecurity involves 

factors such as user awareness and deploying secure systems. 

USAASA screen savers promote cybersecurity awareness and it is 

essential that users continue to educate themselves on cyberspace 

threats, as a lack of awareness has been identified as the cause of  

most security breaches.

The fact that cyber-attacks infiltrate internet platforms through 

vulnerabilities in network systems also points to the need for constant 

awareness.  

In spite of the limited human resource capacity of the USAASA IT 

Unit, it has been able to deliver on its mandate with the direction of 

the Board through the leadership of the CEO.  

USAASA runs its business operations on, arguably, one of the 

industry’s leading business systems. The SAP ERP system automates 

most of the Agency’s business processes, its technology creating new 

possibilities and capabilities that will enable the delivery of business 

strategies and operations into the future. The IT infrastructure is 

constantly reviewed and optimised to ensure maximum availability 

of systems to the business. Maintenance is conducted in the evenings 

and over weekends to limit disruption to business. 

Photo credit: Google 4IR welcome

USAASA ICT Governance Structure, aligned to King IV.

USAASA BOARD

IT STEERING COMMITTEE EXCO

IT SERVICES

BARC CEO
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Strategic Outcome-oriented Goals   

STRATEGIC GOAL Optimally functioning USAASA that effectively delivers against its mandate

Strategic Objective Improved risk management services

Key Performance Indicators Percentage of risks detailed in the Risk Management Plan mitigated

STRATEGIC GOAL Optimally functioning USAASA that effectively delivers against its mandate

Strategic Objective Increased utilisation of the ICT system

Key Performance Indicators Percentage utilisation of functioning SAP ERP modules

STRATEGIC GOAL` Optimally functioning USAASA that effectively delivers against its mandate

Strategic Objective Improved responsiveness by USAASA to the needs of the underserviced and unserved communities through 
research and development

Key Performance Indicators Number of impact assessments conducted

STRATEGIC GOAL Optimally functioning USAASA that effectively delivers against its mandate

Strategic Objective Facilitate a smooth transition from USAASA/USAF to DDF

Key Performance Indicators Development of a costed transition plan from USAASA/USAF to DDF by target date

The USAASA 2018/19 Annual Performance Report 

Risk Management 
Strategic objectives, performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 
Strategic objectives Performance Indicator Planned Target

2018/2019
Actual Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to
Actual Achievement 
for 2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Improved risk 
management services

Percentage of risks 
detailed in the Risk 
Management Plan 
mitigated

75% of risks 
detailed in the Risk 
Management Plan 
mitigated

Achieved.
90% of the activities 
detailed in the Annual Risk 
Management Plan were 
completed 

None Not applicable

Information Technology 
Strategic objectives, performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 
Strategic objectives Performance Indicator Planned Target

2018/2019
Actual Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to
Actual Achievement 
for 2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Increased utilisation 
of the ICT System

Percentage utilisation 
of the functioning SAP 
ERP modules

100% utilisation of 
the functioning SAP 
ERP modules

Achieved.
There was 100% utilisation 
of functional SAP ERP 
modules

None Not applicable



33 P A R T  B :  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N F O R M A T I O N

Research, Policy and Regulatory
Strategic objectives, performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 
Strategic objectives Performance 

Indicator
Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation from planned 
target to
Actual Achievement for 
2018/2019

Comment on deviations

Improved 
responsiveness by 
USAASA to the needs 
of the underserviced 
and unserved 
communities 
through research and 
development

Number 
of impact 
assessments 
conducted

1 Impact 
assessment 
conducted

Not Achieved.
The final impact assessment 
studies for Joe Morolong and 
Ratlou were developed in Q4 
(2018/19) and not presented 
by 31 March 2019 for Exco 
approval.

The poor procurement 
management practices* 
resulted in delays for final 
submission of the final impact 
assessment study for Joe 
Morolong and Ratlou Local 
Municipalities.

The final impact assessment 
study on Joe Morolong 
(Northern Cape) and Ratlou 
(North West Province) was 
subsequently approved 
by Exco on the meeting 
scheduled on 17 April 2019.

Performance Monitoring and Evaluation
Strategic objectives, performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 
Strategic objectives Performance 

Indicator
Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation from planned 
target to
Actual Achievement for 
2018/2019

Comment on deviations

Facilitate a smooth 
transition from 
USAASA/USAF to DDF

Development 
of a costed 
transition plan 
from USAASA/
USAF to the 
DDF by target 
date

Transition plan 
costed and 
completed

Not Achieved.
Transition plan was costed 
and completed as planned 
during the year under review 
but not submitted for Board 
approval as at the end of the 
period under review.

The draft international 
benchmark study of 76 similar 
agencies was concluded by 
31 March 2019. However, 
due to absence of Cabinet-
approved draft legislation on 
Digital Development Fund 
to inform the transitional 
plan, the target could not be 
achieved.

The Agency will conduct 
a workshop with the 
DTPS on framework of 
the Digital Development 
Fund transitional plan and 
subsequently obtain Board 
approval.

*The target was dependent on Cabinet-approved legislation on DDF in line with National Integrated Information and Communications Technology White Paper and 
DTPS’s 2017/18 annual performance target.
*In the absence of Cabinet-approved legislation on DDF, the Agency conducted an international benchmark study into 76 similar global agencies and a study tour will be 
undertaken in the 2019/20 financial year to validate this research.

Summary of USAASA Performance 
The below graphs depict the Agency’s achieved annual targets against the planned annual targets in the 2018/19 approved APP.  Two of the 

four planned targets were achieved, a 50% achievement.
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GOVERNANCE  
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Introduction
The Board of USAASA is regarded as the Accounting Authority in 

terms of Section 49 of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) 

and its duties include:

•  Exercising a duty of utmost care to ensure reasonable protection 

of the assets and records of the USAASA and USAF;

•  Acting with fidelity, honesty, integrity and in the best interests 

of the public entity in managing the financial affairs of the Fund;

•  Preventing any prejudice to the financial interests of the state;

•  Maintaining effective, efficient and transparent systems of 

financial and risk management, and internal control;

•  Maintaining an appropriate procurement and provisioning 

system that is fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost 

effective;

•  Maintaining a system for properly evaluating all major capital 

projects prior to a final decision on each;

•  Taking effective steps to prevent irregular expenditure, fruitless 

and wasteful expenditure, losses resulting from criminal 

conduct and expenditure not complying with the operational 

policies of the Agency; and

• Managing available working capital efficiently and economically.

The Board actively played its role in providing effective leadership 

based on the principles of honesty, professionalism, good 

governance and ethical business practices, and also exercised its 

oversight responsibility over financial and performance management 

and reporting, while ensuring compliance with all relevant legal 

prescripts and policy imperatives. 

All Board committees and the Board are guided by the principles of 

the King VI Report on Corporate Governance and the Companies Act, 

which are embedded in the approved charters.  

Portfolio Committees 
The Board of the Agency is directly accountable to the Parliamentary 

Portfolio Committee on Telecommunications and Postal Services 

and, from time to time, is required to provide updates on the state 

of its financial and non-financial performance to the committee.  The 

Agency has a second responsibility, to the Portfolio Committee on 

Communications, which oversees the rollout of STBs by the Agency.

The nature of USAASA projects has also attracted the attention of 

the Select Committee on Communications and Public Enterprises, 

resulting in a number of engagements with this committee during 

which the Agency was provided with a platform to outline the 

provincial footprint of its projects. 

Portfolio committee engagements for the 2018/19 financial year are 

outlined below:

DATE MEETING/ACTIVITY

24 April 2018 Portfolio Committee briefing on USAASA and USAF Strategic Plan and APP

22 May 2018 Portfolio Committee briefing on USAASA and USAF annual performance  2017/18

2 July 2018 Oversight visit by the Select Committee on Communications

9 October 2018 Portfolio Committee briefing on Annual Performance Report and financial expenditure

19 February 2019 Portfolio Committee briefing on Q1, Q2 and Q3 performance

35 P A R T  C :  G O V E R N A N C E
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The Minister of Telecommunications and Postal Services (Minister of 

Communications with effect from December 2018) is the Executive 

Authority of the Fund, which requires the Fund to provide quarterly 

organisational reports to the department on its activities and financial 

affairs as per Section 65 of the PFMA. All USAF quarterly reports 

were submitted timeously in accordance with the National Treasury 

Framework for Managing Programme Performance Information 

to the ICT Enterprise Development and State-owned Companies  

Oversight Branch of DTPS.

The Executive Authority conducted bilateral meetings with the Board 

to deliberate on the performance reports of both USAASA and USAF 

on the following dates: 

Executive Authority   

DATE MEETING/ACTIVITY

7 June 2018 Meeting with DTPS on USAASA performance

3 September 2018 Briefing meeting of interim Board by Minister 

10 September 2018 Briefing meeting of interim Board by Deputy Minister (Durban) 

23 November 2018 Meeting between Board and Minister (Rosebank)

17 January 2019 Meeting with DTPS Minister

13 March 2019 Meeting between Chairperson and Minister (Cape Town)

15 March 2019 Meeting with DTPS Minister
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Introduction 
The USAASA Board is the Agency’s Accounting Authority in terms 

of the PFMA. It is the responsibility of the Board to provide strategic 

direction, leadership and stability to the Agency and to ensure good 

corporate governance. The role of the Board requires the members 

to maintain the highest standards of ethics, integrity and values, 

and represent the interests of the Agency and the country. These 

responsibilities are set out in the approved Board Charter, which is 

reviewed as and when the Board deems fit.

The Board subscribes to the principles contained in the Code of Good 

Practice and Code of Good Conduct contained in the King Code on 

Corporate Governance Report (King VI) and is committed to applying 

the principles of the PFMA and related regulations. The Board places 

strong emphasis on achieving the highest standards of reporting. 

To ensure effective oversight over the activities of the organisation, 

the Board has organised itself into the following subcommittees, 

which meet every quarter and additionally as necessary: 

• Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 

•  Operations Committees (formerly known as the Business 

Development Services Committee)

• Social and Ethics Committee

• Board Audit and Risk Committee

With the powers conferred on it by legislation and, particularly, by the 

ECA and the PFMA, the Board has determined that its main functions 

and responsibilities add significant value to the Agency.

The Board further accepts that it is ultimately accountable and 

responsible for the performance and the affairs of the Agency, and 

to this end it has: 

•  Represented the Agency before the Minister and Parliament of 

the Republic of South Africa;

• Provided strategic direction to the Agency;

•  Reviewed, approved and monitored the implementation of 

strategic plans and budgets for the Agency and Fund, and 

ensured consequence management was applied for non-

performance;

•  Played an oversight role in the identification and monitoring of 

key risk areas and key performance indicators of the Agency;

• Played an oversight role in relation to IT governance

•  Handled labour relations issues  related to the position of CEO 

and implemented Public Protector remedial actions; 

•  Ensured that the Agency communicates with the shareholder 

and stakeholders transparently and promptly;

•  Ensured the Agency complies with relevant laws, regulations 

and the code of business practice.

The USAASA Board Charter 
USAASA’s Board Charter is aligned to the ECA, PFMA and King codes. 

The charter describes the key responsibilities of the Board of USAASA 

and defines the Board’s authority.

It outlines the following: 

• Composition of the Board;

•  Duties, roles and responsibilities of the Board contained in the 

ECA;

•  Board procedures and the establishment of Board committees 

that assist the Board in the execution of its duties;

•  Matters reserved exclusively for the Board, such as the 

remuneration of Board members, conduct during meetings, 

quorums, Board capacity building and development, and Board 

committee evaluations. 

The Board as the Accounting Authority
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1 April 2018 to 29 August 2018
Committee  No of meetings held No of members  Name of members 

Board Audit and Risk Committee 
(BARC)

05 4 Linda C Nene 
Jabulile Nkosi
Tshegofatso Maloka
Xola Stock

Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee (Remco)

02 4 Nqabekaya Nqandela 
Adv Lungelwa Shandu
 Tshegofatso Maloka
 Xola Stock

Social and Ethics Committee 01 4 Xola Stock
Jabulile Nkosi
Linda Nene
Nqabekaya Nqandela

Operations Committee 02 4 Adv Lungelwa Shandu
Nqabekaya Nqandela
Jabulile Nkosi
Linda Nene

Interim Board committees 
September 2018 to 31 March 2019

Committee  
No of 

meetings held 

No of 

members  
Name of members 

Board Audit and Risk Committee (BARC) 03 03
Siyabonga Dube
Mapuleng Moropa

Sihle Ngubane

Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee (REMCO) 06

04
Sihle Ngubane
Mapuleng Moropa

**Siyabonga Dube
*Ntombizodwa Kutta-Ndhlovu

Social and Ethics Committee 01 03
*Ntombizodwa Kutta-Ndhlovu
Mapuleng Moropa

Sihle Ngubane

Operations Committee 03 02 Mapuleng Moropa Siyabonga Dube

*  Ntombizodwa Kutta-Ndhlovu resigned with effect from 22 February 2019

** Siyabonga Dube became a member with effect from March 2019 

USAASA Committees   
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Remuneration of Board members 

Name Position Comments Total Remuneration  R’000

Mawethu Cawe Chairperson: Board of Directors Terminated 30 August 2018 165

Nqabekaya Nqandela Member: Board of Directors Resigned 15 August 2018 65

Linda Nene Member: Board of Directors Terminated 30 August 2018 117

Adv Lungelwa Shandu Member: Board of Directors Terminated 30 August 2018 156

Jabulile Nkosi Member: Board of Directors Terminated 30 August 2018 192

Tshegofatso Maloka Member: Board of Directors Terminated 30 August 2018 49

Xola Stock Member: Board of Directors Terminated 30 August 2018 65

Interim Board appointed 30 August 2018

Name Position Comments Total Remuneration  R’000

Adv William E Huma Chairperson: Board of Directors Appointed 30 August 2018 245

**Siyabonga Dube Member: Board of Directors Appointed 30 August 2018 164

*Ntombizodwa Kutta-Ndhlovu Member: Board of Directors Resigned 31 January 2019 116

Maropeng Moropa Member: Board of Directors Appointed 30 August 2018 201

Sihle Ngubane Member: Board of Directors Appointed 30 August 2018 154

*  Ntombizodwa Kutta-Ndhlovu resigned with effect from  22 February 2019

** Siyabonga Dube became a member with effect from MArch 2019
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Risk management is concerned with the coordination of activities 

to direct and control an organisation with regard to risk. The 

Board has adopted an enterprise risk management process that 

is aligned to Public Sector Risk Management Framework. Other 

references include the SANS 31000:2009 and the King IV Report on 

Corporate Governance. The processes are incorporated into the risk 

management framework and policy. Oversight for adequacy and 

effectiveness of risk management is delegated to BARC.

The risk management system, which incorporates all process and 

organisational guidelines needed to identify, analyse, assess and 

manage USAASA’s overall risk situation, is embedded in strategy, 

planning and controlling mechanisms across USAASA. In the financial 

year under review, the Agency adopted a performance-based risk 

management approach in acknowledgment that risk-taking is 

fundamental to the achievement of strategic goals/objectives. 

To this end, USAASA conducted strategic, operational and project 

risk assessments. The process entailed the assessment of risks and 

opportunities (including new and emerging risks and opportunities), 

analysis and evaluation of risks and opportunities, and design and 

implementation of appropriate risk responses. This was followed 

by a structured coordination of combined assurance activities to 

ensure optimal assurance coverage. Operational and project risks are 

dealt with whenever necessary in the course of day-to-day business 

management and assessed during quarterly reviews. Strategic risks 

are subject to a quarterly review and are reported on separately in 

the risk profile report.  

A Risk Management Committee provides ongoing oversight of risk 

management and ensures effective risk management, appropriate 

risk ownership and accountability, thereby mitigating unacceptable 

risks. This committee is currently chaired by the CEO, a decision that 

will be reviewed in the interests of accountability and independence.  

BARC oversees risk management on an ongoing basis to ensure 

it supports the organisation in setting and achieving its strategic 

objectives, operational goals and project objectives. BARC  sets 

the direction for how USAASA should approach and address risk. It 

reviews  risk profile reports covering strategic, operational, project, 

dependency, fraud, compliance and emerging risks, and provides 

advice  to ensure effective and efficient risk management.

The Risk Management Unit compiles a quarterly USAASA risk profile 

report on the current status of risks, which is sent to members of 

BARC and the Board. 

Implementation of risk mitigation plans remains below average, in 

spite of effective and regular communication of risk information to 

management, and this underperformance is reflected in the APP. 

Under/non-achievement and other risks/failures in the broadband 

and BDM projects are a direct result of non-implementation of risk 

mitigation plans.  

Risk Management   
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Key activities and objectives of Internal Audit 
Activity
Internal auditing is independent and objective assurance and 

consulting activity designed to  add value and improve  organisations’ 

operations. It helps an organisation to accomplish its objectives 

by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating 

and improving the overall effectiveness of risk management, 

internal control and governance processes. The Internal Audit 

Activity (IAA) for USAASA functions in terms of the Standard for 

the Professional Practices of Internal Audit, Code of Ethics and 

other relevant legislation passed by professional bodies within the 

auditing profession. The scope of I(IAA is to determine whether the 

organisation’s risks management, internal control and governance 

processes are adequate and function effectively and efficiently 

towards the attainment of USAASA’s objectives.

IAA as stipulated in the Internal Audit Charter approved by BARC 

should:

•  Have unlimited access to the information, records, property and 

personnel of the Agency;

•  Have full and free access to BARC and the Chairperson of the 

USAASA Board;

•  Obtain cooperation of personnel from all divisions of the 

organisation where they perform their duties, as well as other 

specialised services from within or outside the organisation;

•  Have adequate financial, human and technological resources 

and BARC support; and

• Report administratively to the CEO and functionally to BARC. 

Key IAA is guided by risk exposures determined during risk 

assessment processes, whose results are contained in the USAASA risk 

registers. Other activities are guided by emerging risks from USAASA 

operations, project risk assessment and ad hoc management from 

bodies within USAASA, including the Board. All ad hoc requests, even 

though provided for in the approved annual Internal Audit plans, 

should be approved by BARC prior to IAA.

Key highlights of Internal Audit Activity 
IAA, having realised that key challenges emerged in the period under 

review, had to amend the approved annual Internal Audit Plan. These 

amendments were duly approved by BARC and implemented by IAA, 

providing the required assurance to the Board by IAA, which assisted 

the Board with its oversight role and sound decision-making. The 

following key activities were welcomed by the Board and yielded the 

required assurance to the Board and its committee:

•  The formation of the combined assurance providers in the 

execution of the audit on inventory count on BDM, which was 

made up of IAA, the finance, risk management and operations 

divisions and the Office of the Auditor-General;

•  Formation of a combined assurance team with external 

specialist assistance to conduct broadband audits in Impendle 

Local Municipality, KwaZulu-Natal, and in King Sabata 

Dalindyebo and Mhlontlo local municipalities, OR Tambo 

District Municipality, the latter review and associated SAP ERP 

support and maintenance prompting the Board to accept 

recommendations for an independent forensic audit. The team 

comprised IAA, the risk management and operations divisions, 

ICASA and the Office of the Auditor-General. Further reviews 

were conducted by IAA on the 295 broadband connected 

sites and 314 infrastructures in King Sabata Dalindyebo and 

Mhlontlo local municipalities, the results of which enhanced 

Board decision-making;

•  The participation of the Chief Audit Executive in Board and 

Board committee meetings for continued objective assurance 

to assist in Board oversight and sound decision-making; and

•  IAA’s proactive audit reviews on bids/tenders prior to award, 

which enhanced the value-add of IIA and led to two bids/

tenders being restarted due to non-compliance to key SCM 

prescripts.

Internal Audit
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BARC ensured that USAASA management has the necessary checks 

and balances in place to ensure compliance with laws and regulations, 

that it is conducting its affairs ethically, and that it is maintaining 

effective controls against possible conflicts of interest and fraud. The 

specific steps involved in carrying out this responsibility include the 

following:

• Reviewing policy documents, incorporating:

 - compliance with laws, regulations and ethics; and

 - policies and rules on conflicts of interest.

• Monitoring compliance with laws, regulations and policies;

•  Reviewing Internal Audit’s written reports on the scope of 

reviews of compliance, significant findings, resolutions and 

follow-up on findings and recommendations;

•  Monitoring developments and changes in the law relating to 

responsibilities and liabilities of management, and monitoring 

and reviewing management performance in meeting its 

obligations; and

•  Monitoring developments and changes in rules, regulations and 

laws relating to the organisation’s operations, and monitoring 

and reviewing the organisation’s compliance with these.

BARC reviewed USAASA’s arrangements for employees to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible wrongdoing in financial reporting or 

other matters, ensuring proportionate and independent investigation and appropriate follow-up action.

The Company Secretary ensures that the Board and its committees 

function optimally in line with legislation and corporate governance 

principles. Board members have unrestricted access to the advice/

guidance and services of the Company Secretary on governance, 

legislative and regulatory requirements.

The Company Secretary assists the Board to compile the APP, agendas 

and meetings packs for Board and Board committee meetings.

The Company Secretary also ensures that the Board’s policies 

and instructions are communicated to the relevant people in the 

Agency and that management issues are referred to the Board 

where appropriate. The Company Secretary plays a key role in the 

induction of new directors, encompassing both directors’ duties 

and responsibilities in general and specific matters pertaining to the 

Agency and its sector, and coordinates Board performance evaluation, 

identifies training requirements and facilitates ongoing programmes 

to keep directors well informed of Agency developments and 

pertinent matters.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations     

Fraud and Corruption 

Company Secretary 
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The USAASA Exco, under the leadership of the CEO, leads the divisions 

and business units of the Agency in accordance with organisational 

strategic objectives. 

Members of this committee support the Board by driving the 

following key activities, inter alia:

•  Demonstrating leadership in strategy implementation and 

in being accountable and transparent in coordinating and 

maintaining clear directives for USAASA’s strategic objectives, 

guidelines, policies and procedures; 

•  Ensuring commitment across the organisation to achieving 

USAASA and USAF quarterly and annual performance targets 

outlined in the approved APP, and monitoring and evaluating 

progress of deliverables; and

•  Ensuring effective human resources, financial and risk 

management, and being accountable for implementing 

recommendations of internal audit, the BARC, the AGSA, and 

the Board and its committees.

Exco remains accountable to the USAASA Board of Directors and is, 

therefore, directly involved in preparing and firming up submissions 

and recommendations on organisational matters tabled before the 

Board and its committees.

 

Role of Exco 
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We are pleased to present USAASA’s Board Audit and Risk Committee 

report for the financial year ended 31 March 2019. 

BARC’s Roles and Responsibilities 
BARC has complied with its responsibilities arising from Section 51 (1)

(a)(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 

27.1 and has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its 

Board Audit and Risk Committee Charter.  All the committee’s affairs 

during the financial year under review were regulated in compliance 

with this charter and BARC discharged all the responsibilities 

contained therein. 

The committee monitored the integrity of the USAASA annual 

financial statements and performance information included in this 

annual report and reviewing significant financial and non-financial 

reporting issues contained herein.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control 
In the financial period under review, BARC reviewed and evaluated 

the manner in which the Agency carried out the following 

responsibilities:

• USAASA financial management and reporting practices;

• Internal audit activity;

• External audit processes;

•  Internal financial controls and the process for management of 

risks;

• Compliance with laws, regulations and ethics; 

• IT governance; and

• Combined assurance.

Management of Risk
Risk management is concerned with the coordination of activities 

to direct and control an organisation with regard to risk. The 

Board has adopted an enterprise risk management process that 

is aligned to Public Sector Risk Management Framework. Other 

references include the SANS 31000:2009 and the King IV Report on 

Corporate Governance. The processes are incorporated into the risk 

management framework and policy. Oversight for adequacy and 

effectiveness of risk management is delegated to BARC.

The risk management system, which incorporates all process and 

organisational guidelines needed to identify, analyse, assess and 

manage USAASA’s overall risk situation, is embedded in strategy, 

planning and controlling mechanisms across USAASA. In the financial 

year under review, the Agency adopted a performance-based risk 

management approach in acknowledgment that risk-taking is 

fundamental to the achievement of strategic goals/objectives. 

To this end, USAASA conducted strategic, operational and project 

risk assessments. The process entailed the assessment of risks and 

opportunities (including new and emerging risks and opportunities), 

analysis and evaluation of risks and opportunities, and design and 

implementation of appropriate risk responses. This was followed 

by a structured coordination of combined assurance activities to 

ensure optimal assurance coverage. Operational and project risks are 

dealt with whenever necessary in the course of day-to-day business 

management and assessed during quarterly reviews. Strategic risks 

are subject to a quarterly review and are reported on separately in 

the risk profile report.  

A Risk Management Committee provides ongoing oversight of risk 

management and ensures effective risk management, appropriate 

risk ownership and accountability, thereby mitigating unacceptable 

risks. This committee is currently chaired by the CEO, a decision that 

will be reviewed in the interests of accountability and independence.  

BARC oversees risk management on an ongoing basis to ensure 

it supports the organisation in setting and achieving its strategic 

objectives, operational goals and project objectives. BARC  sets 

the direction for how USAASA should approach and address risk. It 

reviews  risk profile reports covering strategic, operational, project, 

dependency, fraud, compliance and emerging risks, and provides 

advice  to ensure effective and efficient risk management.

The Risk Management Unit compiles a quarterly USAASA risk profile 

report on the current status of risks, which is sent to members of 

BARC and the Board. In addition to the risk management process, 

BARC continued to monitor and evaluate the role on the combined 

assurance. The combined assurance was further strengthened by the 

services of ICASA, in addition to Auditor-General, as the third line of 

defence in the review of broadband.  

Implementation of risk mitigation plans remains below average, in 

spite of effective and regular communication of risk information to 

management, and this underperformance is reflected in the APP. 

Under/non-achievement and other risks/failures in the broadband 

and BDM projects are a direct result of non-implementation of risk 

mitigation plans.  

Board Audit Committee Report (BARC)
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Internal Audit
We have reviewed the work of Internal Audit to ensure that it is in line 

with the Internal Audit Charter.

As stipulated in the Internal Audit Charter, approved by BARC, Internal 

Audit should:

•  have unlimited access to the information, records, property and 

personnel of the Agency;

•  have full and free access to BARC and the Chairperson of the 

USAASA Board;

•  obtain cooperation of personnel from all divisions of the 

organisation and other specialised services from within or 

outside the organisation;

•  have adequate financial, human and technological resources 

and the support of BARC; and

• report administratively to the CEO and functionally to BARC.

In the 2017/18 financial year, the Board asked Internal Audit to perform 

a review on SAP/ERP post-implementation review. In addition to this 

review, Internal Audit was also requested to conduct a further review 

on SAP/ERP support and maintenance audits to test the anomalies 

of excluding support and maintenance for the acquisition of the 

system. Having received and studied the reports during 2018/19, the 

Board decided to commission forensic audits. The forensic audit is 

currently underway and will be concluded during 2019/20. 

Financial Reporting
BARC monitored the integrity of the financial statements of the 

organisation, including its annual report and any other formal 

announcement relating to its financial performance, reviewing 

significant financial reporting issues and judgments included in 

them.  BARC also reviewed summary financial statements, significant 

financial returns to regulators and any financial information contained 

in such documents. All AGSA audit findings raised will be monitored 

evenly during the financial year 2019/20, through the USAASA AGSA 

Implementation Action Plan. This implementation action plan will be 

monitored by BARC and presented to the Board. Failure to implement 

the plan will be subject to consequence management. 

Compliance with Laws, Regulations and 
Ethics
BARC ensured that the management of USAASA has the necessary 

checks and balances in place to ensure that there is compliance with 

laws and regulations, that it is conducting its affairs ethically, and 

that it is maintaining effective controls against possible conflicts of 

interest and fraud. The specific steps involved in carrying out this 

responsibility include the following:

• Reviewing policy documents incorporating:

 - compliance with laws, regulations and ethics; and

 - policies and rules on  conflicts of interest.

• Monitoring compliance with laws, regulations and policies;

•  Reviewing Internal Audit’s written reports on the scope 

of reviews of compliance, any significant findings and 

the resolution thereof, and the follow-up on findings and 

recommendations;

•  Monitoring developments and changes in the law relating 

to the responsibilities and liabilities of management and also 

monitoring and reviewing the extent to which management is 

meeting its obligations; and

•  Monitoring developments and changes in the various rules, 

regulations and laws that relate generally to the organisation’s 

operations, and also monitoring and reviewing the extent to 

which the organisation is complying with such rules, regulations 

and laws.

BARC shall continue to review USAASA’s arrangements for its 

employees to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible 

wrongdoing in financial reporting or other matters.  BARC ensures 

that these arrangements allow proportionate and independent 

investigation of such matters and appropriate follow-up action.

In-year Management and Monthly/Quarterly 
Reports
BARC consistently reviewed USAASA financial and non-financial 

management and reporting practices in the financial year under 

review and ensured that monthly and quarterly reporting was in 

accordance with the PFMA.

Evaluation of Financial Statements 
We have reviewed the annual financial statements prepared for 

USAASA and recommended the same for submission to the Board, 

Executive Authority, National Treasury and AGSA. 

Auditor’s Report 
BARC concurs with and accepts the conclusions of AGSA on USAASA 

annual financial statements and is of the opinion that the audited 

annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the 

report of AGSA. It gives BARC great pleasure to report that USAASA 

received an unqualified audit opinion, and will strive for a “clean” audit 

opinion in the next financial year, 2019/20.

 

Siyabonga Dube

Chairperson: Board Audit and Risk Committee 

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa

31 July 2019
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HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 

D
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Background
To achieve universal access and service in the current environment 

and in the future, USAASA needs qualified and motivated employees 

at head office and in the regional offices. USAASA strives to provide 

an environment that inspires its employees to achieve their best and 

enables them to grow professionally within the organisation. The goal 

is to develop existing employees whilst attracting suitably qualified 

young talent as envisaged in the SoNA delivered in June 2019. 

Accordingly, USAASA has formulated strategic succession planning 

measures and a responsive human resources  policy underlined by 

an understanding of new and modern ways of working, including 

increasing digitisation, and a recognition of the needs of employees. 

Talent Management
USAASA’s employees have access to wide-ranging training 

programmes and are motivated to pursue their career through 

individual development plans, which cover areas specific to their 

job functions. As USAASA is mainly a projects-based organisation, 

programmes involve targeted training and ongoing professional 

development, with particular emphasis on upskilling to meet the 

needs of a digitised workplace.

 

Learning and Development
To address USAASA’s unsatisfactory annual performance, staff 

development will be tailored to different root causes responsible for 

the underachievement. Employees will benefit from in-house and 

external learning and development opportunities, including training 

programmes on technical and functional skills. 

Mainly due to budget constraints, USAASA achieved only 50% on its 

APP, against a business target of 90%. In total, R541 435 was spent on 

training.

In the 2018/19 financial year, USAASA awarded eight staff bursaries.  

Skills development expenditure constituted 1.3% of total payroll 

expenditure.

Human Capital  

Functional Level Training 
Expenditure

Training Expenditure % 
of Payroll

Number of Training 
Interventions

Number of Employees 
Trained

Average Training Cost 
per Employee

Top management R22 743.00 0.05% 2 4 R5 685.75

Senior management R41 373.60 0.09% 3 6 R6 895.60

Professional qualified R38 497.50 0.08% 2 3 R12 832.50

Skilled R160 172.44 0.34% 9 18 R8 898.46

Semi-skilled - - - - -

Unskilled - - - - -

Total R262 786.54 0.56% - - -

Skilled Development Spend Average Individual Investment

Internships R110 000.00 R36 666.00

Staff training R262 786.54 R8 476.98

Staff bursaries R202 694.55 R25 336.81

Total R575 481.09 R55 036.66

Developing USAASA’s Skills
Investment in and capacitation of employees to ensure individual 

and organisational growth are essential components of the learning 

and development policy.

USAASA encourages its employees to enrol at recognised higher 

education institutions to develop, grow and strengthen their skills. 

Hence, the award of bursaries valued R202 964.99 to eight students.

The organisation also implemented a one-year Graduate Internship 

Programme, which provided six learners with an opportunity to learn 

and gain on-the-job training to ensure employability. Two interns 

resigned during the programme, two were appointed temporarily 

and two were released as there were no vacancies. Investment in the 

internship programme was R180 810.27.
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Rewards and Recognition
Reward and recognition are essential in achieving strategic goals 

and objectives. USAASA, as a Schedule 3A entity, adopted the salary 

structure of the public service, which ensures competitive and 

equitable remuneration in line with Public Service Bargaining Council 

resolutions. 

USAASA remunerates its employees annually on assessment linked 

to the individual’s performance contribution and organisational 

performance. Performance bonuses were not paid during the 2018/19 

financial year, as the Agency did not meet the required performance 

threshold of 80% set out in the performance management policy. 

Ethos Change
In pursuit of an organisation-wide philosophy and value-based 

culture, USAASA will, in the 2019/20 financial year, develop and adopt 

a code of conduct for all employees and business partners, followed 

by the rollout of compliance training focusing on conflicts of interest, 

gifts, invitations and whistleblowing. The organisation will bear in 

mind the importance of training employees on topics such as ethics, 

soft skills, leadership optimisation and teamwork. 

Occupational Health and Safety
USAASA applies prevention and employee awareness strategies to 

actively avoid occupational health and safety breaches. Employees 

take part in fire drills, with a participation rate of almost 100% during 

the year. No workplace incidents were recorded in 2018/19. 

Employment Equity
As a public entity, USAASA is committed to upholding labour 

standards based on the Labour Relations Act (LRA, No 66 of 1995) 

and the Employment Equity Act, No 55 of 1998. 

Its offers all employees equal opportunities, promoting 

transformation and workplace equity across all occupational levels 

of the organisation.

USAASA has adopted and approved an Employment Equity Policy 

based on employment equity legislation. The Employment Equity 

Committee ensures that the policy is implemented and embedded 

in the business. Further, the Employment Equity Committee ensures 

that standards are met across USAASA, measuring activities against 

defined standards.  

At 31 March 2019, USAASA had 55 permanent employees, 96% of 

whom are black and 54.5% female.

At top management level, 100% employees are black, with no 

females; 91% of senior management is black and 27% female, and 

98% of specialists and middle management levels are occupied by 

black candidates, 63% of whom are female. USAASA’s disability rate 

is zero.

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status 
LEVELS MALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target* Current Target* Current Target* Current Target*

Top management 3 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Senior management 9 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Professional qualified 5 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Skilled 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 25 0 0 0 1 0 2 0

*No Employment Equity Plan 
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Female Employees per Employment Levels and Target Groups
LEVELS FEMALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target* Current Target* Current Target* Current Target*

Top management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior management 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled 20 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 30 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Disabled Employees per Employment Levels and Target Groups
LEVELS DISABLED STAFF

Male Female

Current Target Current Target

Top management 0 0 0 0

Senior management 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 0 0 0 0

Skilled 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 0 0 0 0

Employment and Personnel Remuneration by Salary Band 
The table below sets out USAASA’s employment profile at 31 March 2019. There were four vacancies for the 2018/19 financial year, with five 

appointments,  including replacements for voluntary and involuntary exits during the year.  Average remuneration cost per employee was 

R838 263.

Employment and Vacancies
Programme 2018/19

Number of Employees
(Opening balance)

2018/19 
Approved/Funded Posts

Number of Employees
(Closing balance)

Vacancies

USAASA 56 *61 57 4

* USAASA employed two employees on contract as at the end of the financial year 2018/19. 

Programme 2018/19
Number of Employees

2018/19  
Funded Posts

Number of Employees 
2018/19 

Vacancies

Top management (14 to 16) 5 5 4 1

Senior management (13) 11 12 11 1

Professional qualified (11 to 12) 15 14 15 0

Skilled (8 to 10) 23 28 25 2

Semi-skilled (2) 2 2 2 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 56 61 57 4
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Division Total Expenditure for 
the Entity

Personnel 
Expenditure

Personnel 
Expenditure as a % of 

total Expenditure

Number of 
Employees

Average Personnel 
Cost per Employee

All USAASA divisions R105 071 000 R 47 613 260 45% 57 R838 263

Labour Relations: Misconduct and Disciplinary Action
Nature of Disciplinary Action Number 

Verbal warning 20

Written warning 0

Final written warning 0

Dismissal 2

Suspension 0

Employment Changes
The table below indicates USAASA’s employment profile at 31 March 2019. 

Salary Band Employment at 
beginning of Financial 

Year 2018/19

Appointments Terminations Employment at end of 
Financial Year 2018/19

Top management (14 to 16) 5 0 1 4

Senior management (13) 11 2 1 11

Professional qualified (11 to 12) 15 0 0 15

Skilled (8 to 10) 23 3 2 25

Semi-skilled (2) 2 0 0 2

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

Total 56 5 4 57

Reason for Staff Leaving 
USAASA’s turnover rate for 2018/19 was 7.2%, comprising 3.6% voluntary (resignations),  3.6% involuntary terminations (retirement, dismissals 

and death) and expiry of contracts. 

Reason Number % of Total Number of Staff Leaving Attempts Made to Replace Staff

Death 0 0 0

Resignation 2 3.6 0

Dismissal 2 3.6 0

Retirement 0 0 0

Ill health 0 0 0

Expiry of contract 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0

Total 4 7.2 0
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Employee Relations 
USAASA recognises the need for employees to feel valued, as this increases morale, productivity and participation. Internal communications, 

primarily through the Agency’s communications forum and newsletters, gives employees access to information on their roles and contributions 

to USAASA and news on developments. Use is also made of posters, internal newsletters, intranet, website and social media to interact with 

employees. 

Management frequently engages with staff to ensure a healthy, peaceful and stable work environment. Employees’ concerns are handled 

promptly through established structures and processes.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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With revenue for the year increasing only marginally, from R80.1 

million in 2017/18 to R81.9 million in the year under review, USAASA 

managed to raise performance by 8%. 

The organisation narrowed its deficit from R84.2 million to R23.1 

million, as it was no longer processing invoices from the South African 

Post Office (SAPO) for warehousing of Broadcast Digital Migration 

(BDM) inventory. Warehousing and logistics during the year were 

funded directly from National Treasury allocation to SAPO.

I am pleased that USAASA received an unqualified audit opinion, 

with emphasis of matter paragraph. We continue to work hard  to 

strengthen the control environment to ensure that we realise our 

dream of a clean audit report. 

The challenges experienced with the appointment of maintenance 

and support providers for the SAP ERP system persisted through 

2018/19. In the absence of budget from National Treasury, savings 

from internal funds, including approved rollover funds from the 

previous year, were channelled into interim maintenance and 

support. This approach  does not allow for a longer-term contract 

(three years or longer) at a more favourable fee. Funds are sufficient 

only for a short-term contract of under two years, which often attracts 

a less favourable rate. This absence of budget poses a major risk for 

the organisation in continuing to fulfil its constitutional mandate. 

Rollover funds were approved also for use in legal fees incurred in 

defending claims against the Agency by the panel of BDM service 

providers. In May 2018, the High Court set aside the panel of 

manufacturers, which vindicated USAASA’s decision to defend the 

case. 

During the year, USAASA incurred R24.9 million in irregular 

expenditure. 

REPORT OF THE

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

MAHOMED CHOWAN
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The contributing factors were delays in USAASA moving the 

cellphone contract with Vodacom over to the transversal contract 

that had been negotiated between National Treasury and Vodacom. 

There was no financial loss to USAASA. 

In addition, the legal fees incurred by the Agency for defending 

BDM-related matters were deemed irregular as the service provider 

was initially appointed on a request for quotation basis. The Agency, 

however, received value for money as the service provider successfully 

defended the claims at arbitration and the courts set aside the panel 

of manufacturers.

Consulting services had to be contracted for various disciplinary 

matters. 

In addition, a service level agreement was signed after the service 

provider was on board due to an urgent need for SAP support.

My thanks go the Board, BARC and my USAASA colleagues for 

contributing to the successes of the year and facing the challenges 

with determination and a resolve to overcome them. 

Mahomed Chowan

Chief Financial Officer
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The directors are legally bound to ensure that full and proper records 

of USAASA’s financial affairs are kept and for the preparation and in-

tegrity of the annual financial statements. The external auditors are 

engaged to conduct an audit and express an independent opinion 

on the financial statements.

The USAASA annual financial statements have been prepared in 

terms of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice and are in line 

with USAASA’s accounting policies and supported by reasonable and 

prudent judgments and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for 

the systems of internal financial control and that they rely on the 

BARC to oversee management’s implementation of sound internal 

control systems, procedures, policies and approval frameworks to 

maintain a strong control environment.  The directors are not aware 

of any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, pro-

cedures and systems during the year under review.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and ex-

planations given by management and internal audit activity, that the 

system of internal control provides reasonable assurance and that 

the financial records may be relied on to prepare the annual financial 

statements.

The directors have every reason to believe that the annual financial 

statements, which were prepared on a going concern basis, fairly 

present the financial results of the Agency and its position at the end 

of the financial year and that the Agency will be a going concern for 

the year ahead.

The annual financial statements of USAASA for the year ended 31 

March 2019, set out on pages 61 – 94, were approved by the Board of 

Directors on 31 May 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Statement of Responsibility: 
Annual Financial Statements

Sipho Mngqibisa

Acting Chief Executive Officer

31 July 2019

Adv William Huma

Chairperson

31 July 2019
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Report on the audit of the financial 
statements

Opinion

1.  I have audited the financial statements of the Universal Services 

and Access Agency of South Africa set out on pages 60 to 94 

which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 

March 2019, the statement of financial performance, statement 

of changes in net assets, statement of cash flows and the 

statement of comparison of budget with actual amount for the 

year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

2.  In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of the Universal Service 

and Access Agency of South Africa as at 31 March 2019, and its 

financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 

(GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Management 

Finance Act (PFMA). 

Basis for opinion

3.  I conducted my audit in accordance with the International 

Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the auditor-general’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 

of this auditor’s report. 

4.  I am independent of the public entity in accordance with 

sections 290 and 291 of the International Ethics Standards 

Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional 

accountants (IESBA code), parts 1 and 3 of the International 

Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 

Independence Standards) and the ethical requirements that 

are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 

and the IESBA codes.

5.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion

Emphasis of matters

6.  I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified 
in respect of this matter.

Irregular expenditure

7.  As disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, the public 

entity incurred irregular expenditure of R24 891 000.00 as it did 

not follow proper SCM processes.

Uncertainty relating to the future outcome of litigation

8.  With reference to note 17 to the financial statements, the public 

entity is the defendant in a number of lawsuits. The ultimate 

outcome of the matters cannot presently be determined and 

no provision for any liability that may result has been made in 

the financial statements.

Responsibilities of Accounting Authority for the financial 
statements

9.  The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting 

authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in accordance with Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practice and the requirements of the 

Public Finance Management Act, and for such internal control 

as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

10.  In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority 

is responsible for assessing the Universal Services and Access 

Agency of South Africa ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern 

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 

appropriate governance structure either intends to liquidate 

the public entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

11.  My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 

issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on 
Universal Services and Access Agency of South Africa
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to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of these financial statements. 

12.  A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the 

financial statements is included in the annexure to this auditor’s 

report.

Report on the audit of the annual 
performance report

Introduction and scope

13.  In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 

(Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued in terms 

thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on 

the reported performance information against predetermined 

objectives for selected programme presented in the annual 

performance report. I performed procedures to identify findings 

but not to gather evidence to express assurance.

14.  My procedures address the reported performance information, 

which must be based on the approved performance planning 

documents of the public entity. I have not evaluated the 

completeness and appropriateness of the performance 

indicators included in the planning documents. My procedures 

also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to 

planned performance strategies and information in respect of 

future periods that may be included as part of the reported 

performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not 

extend to these matters. 

15.  I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported 

performance information in accordance with the criteria 

developed from the performance management and reporting 

framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following 

selected programme presented in the annual performance 

report of the public entity for the year ended 31 March 2019:

Programme Pages in the annual 
performance report

Programme 2 – Business 
Intelligence

33

  

16.  I performed procedures to determine whether the reported 

performance information was properly presented and whether 

performance was consistent with the approved performance 

planning documents. I performed further procedures to 

determine whether the indicators and related targets were 

measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the 

reported performance information to determine whether it 

was valid, accurate and complete.

17.  I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and 

reliability of the reported performance information for this 

programme. 

Other matters

18.  I draw attention to the matter below. 

Achievement of planned targets

19.  Refer to the annual performance report on pages 32 to 33 for 

information on the achievement of planned targets for the 

year and explanations provided for the under achievement of 

a significant number of targets 

Report on the audit of compliance with 
legislation

Introduction and scope
20.  In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in 

terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings 

on the compliance of the public entity with specific matters in 

key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but 

not to gather evidence to express assurance. 

21.  The material findings on compliance with specific matters in 

key legislations are as follows:

Annual financial statements, performance and annual 
report 

22.  The financial statements submitted for auditing were not 

prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial reporting 

framework and supported by full and proper records, as 

required by section 55(1) (a) and (b) of the PFMA.  Material 

misstatements of some disclosure items identified by the 

auditors in the submitted financial statements were corrected, 

resulting in the financial statements receiving an unqualified 

audit opinion.

Expenditure Management

23.  Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent 

irregular expenditure amounting to R 24 891 000.00 as disclosed 

in note 22 to the annual financial statements, as required by 

section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The irregular expenditure was 

caused by expired contracts and procurement processes not 

being followed properly.

Other information
24.  The accounting authority is responsible for the other 

information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the annual report which includes the directors’ 

report and the audit committee’s report. The other information 
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does not include the financial statements, the auditor’s 

report and the selected programme presented in the annual 

performance report that have been specifically reported in this 

auditor’s report. 

25.  My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the 

reported performance information and compliance with 

legislation do not cover the other information and I do not 

express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 

thereon.

26.  In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the 

other information and, in doing so, consider whether the 

other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

statements and the selected programmes presented in the 

annual performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the 

audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

27.  If based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is 

a material misstatement in this other information, I am required 

to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.

Internal control deficiencies
26.  I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial 

statements, reported performance information and compliance 

with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to 

express any form of assurance on it. The matter reported below 

are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that 

resulted in the findings on compliance with legislation included 

in this report.

27.  The entity did not implement proper record keeping in a 

timely manner to ensure that complete, relevant and accurate 

information is accessible and available to support financial 

reporting. Information requested during the final audit was 

not provided by management in a timely manner, delays were 

experienced in the submission of information.

28.  Management did not ensure compliance with the internal 

controls implemented by the accounting authority to comply 

with the National Treasury Irregular Expenditure Framework 

and section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA.

Other reports
29.  I draw attention to the following engagements conducted 

by various parties that had, or could have, an impact on the 

matters reported in the public entity’s financial statements, 

reported performance information, compliance with applicable 

legislation and other related matters. These reports did not form 

part of my opinion on the financial statements or my findings 

on the reported performance information or compliance with 

legislation.

30.  The public protector finalised the report on an initiative 

investigation into the conduct of the previous members of 

the USAASA board of directors in connection with a complaint 

lodged with the public protector for an investigation as 

contemplated in the protected disclosures Act, 2000 against 

the board of directors of USAASA. The report was finalised on 

28 August 2018. 

Pretoria

31  July 2019

 

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on 
Universal Services and Access Agency of South Africa
Continued
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1.  As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout my audit of the financial statements, and the 

procedures performed on reported performance information 

for selected programmes and on the public entity’s compliance 

with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements
2.  In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial 

statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also: 

 •  identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

 •  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 

the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

public entity’s internal control

 •  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the board of directors, which 

constitutes the accounting authority.

 •  conclude on the appropriateness of the board of 

directors, which constitutes the accounting authority’s 

use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 

preparation of the financial statements. I also conclude, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 

material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 

that may cast significant doubt on USAASA’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements about the material uncertainty or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the 

financial statements. My conclusions are based on the 

information available to me at the date of this auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause a 

public entity to cease continuing as a going concern

 •  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 

of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation

Communication with those charged with 
governance
3.  I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, 

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

4.  I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied 

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 

and communicate all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my independence 

and, where applicable, related safeguards. 

Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for the 
audit
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Note(s)
2019
‘000

2018
‘000

Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions

Recoveries 125 20

Interest received - investment 25 1 707 4 399

Total revenue from exchange transactions 1 832 4 419

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Transfer revenue

Government grants & subsidies 26 80 074 75 684

Total revenue 10 81 906 80 103

Expenditure

Employee related costs 11 (47 781) (44 306)

Legal fees 27 (9 948) (19 717)

Depreciation and amortisation 2 (14 619) (16 200)

Finance costs 28 (18) -

Lease rentals on operating lease 23 (5 006) (4 570)

BDM Warehousing and Logistics - (56 790)

Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities (11) -

Fair value adjustments (4) (18)

General Expenses 12 (27 684) (22 739)

Total expenditure (105 071) (164 340)

Deficit for the year (23 165) (84 237)

Statement of Financial Performance

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019
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Note(s)
2019
‘000

2018
‘000

Assets

Current Assets

Inventories 4 5 5

Loans and receivables 5 936 2 552

Cash and cash equivalents 6 21 081 32 215

22 022 34 772

Non-Current Assets

Property and equipment 2 1 516 2 527

Intangible assets 3 13 336 26 562

14 852 29 089

Total Assets 36 874 63 861

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Finance lease obligation 7 51 141

Trade and other payables 8 4 740 8 472

Provisions 9 2 447 2 398

7 238 11 011

Non-Current Liabilities
Finance leaseobligation 7 - 51

Total Liabilities 7 238 11 062

Net Assets 29 636 52 799

Accumulated surplus 29 634 52 799

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2019
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Accumulated
surplus

‘000

Total net
assets
‘000

Balance at 01 April 2017 137 037 137 037

Changes in net assets

Deficit for the year (84 160) (84 160)

Total changes (84 160) (84 160)

Opening balance as previously reported 52 877 52 877

Adjustments

Prior year adjustments (78) (78)

Balance at 01 April 2018 as restated* 52 799 52 799

Changes in net assets

Deficit for the year (23 165) (23 165)

Total changes (23 165) (23 165)

Balance at 31 March 2019 29 634 29 634

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
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Note(s)
2019
‘000

2018
‘000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from government 80 074 75 684

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (92 549) (152 104)

Cash generated from operations (excl. interest) 14 (12 475) (76 420)

Interest income 1 768 4 399

Finance costs (18) -

Other income 125 -

Net cash from operating activities (10 600) (72 021)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 2 (313) (284)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 (1) -

Purchase of other intangible assets 3 (79) -

Net cash from investing activities (393) (284)

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance lease payments (141) (23)

Net cash from financing activities (141) (23)

Total cash movement for the year (11 134) (72 328)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 32 215 104 543

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 21 081 32 215

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Statement of Cash Flows
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Approved
budget

Adjustments Final 
Budget

Actual 
amounts

on 
comparable

basis

Difference
between 

final
budget and

actual

Reference

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

Statement of Financial Performance

Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions

Recoveries - - - 125 125 Recoveries from former
employee(s)

Interest received - investment - - - 1 707 1 707 Interest earned from 
short term Call Account

Total revenue from exchange transactions - - - 1 832 1 832

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Transfer revenue

Transfers & subsidies received 80 074 22 740 102 814 102 814 - Transfers received from 
DTPS including 22,740 

mil retained surplus from 
2017/18 financial year

Total revenue 80 074 22 740 102 814 104 646 1 832

Expenditure

Personnel (51 580) - (51 580) (47 781) 3 799 Saving realised due to
 vacancies during the 

year.

Legal fees (692) (12 618) (13 310) (9 948) 3 362 R12.6m of the approved 
retained surplus allocated 

to Legal fees

Depreciation and amortisation - - - (14 619) (14 619) Non-cash flow item not
budgeted for

Finance costs - (18) (18) (18) -

Lease rentals on operating lease (4 624) - (4 624) (5 006) (382) Overspending
occured due to
rental of new
regional office

General Expenses (23 178) (10 104) (33 282) (27 684) 5 598 R10.1m of the approved
retained surplus

allocated to General
Expenses.

Total expenditure (80 074) (22 740) (102 814) (105 056) (2 242)

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Statement of Comparison of Budget 
and Actual Amounts
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Approved
budget

Adjustments Final 
Budget

Actual 
amounts

on 
comparable

basis

Difference
between 

final
budget and

actual

Reference

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

Operating deficit - - - (410) (410)

Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities - - - (11) (11) Non cash flow item

Fair value adjustments - - - (4) (4) Non cash flow item

- - - (15) (15)

Deficit before taxation - - - (425) (425)

Actual Amount on Comparable
Basis as Presented in the
Budget and Actual
Comparative Statement

- - - (425) (425)

During the financial year the Agency received approval of R22.7 million from National Treasury for the retension of surplus funds to cover legal costs and 
procure SAP support and maintenance services.

Statement of Comparison of Budget 
and Actual Amounts continued

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019
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1. Statement of compliance

 The audited annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), 
issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance  with Section  91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of1999).

 These audited annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are inaccordance with historical cost convention as 
the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand.

 A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these audited annual financial statements, 
are disclosed below.

1.1 Significant judgments

 In preparing the audited annual financial statements, the executive management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
represented in the audited annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgment are inherent 
in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the audited annual financial 
statements. Significant judgments include:

 Loans and receivables

 The entity assesses its loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be 
recorded in surplus or deficit, the surplus makes judgments as to whether  there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financialasset.

 The impairment for loans and receivables is calculated on a portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for national and industry-specific 
economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied 
to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss emergence period.

 Fair value estimation

 The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial 
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the 
entity for similar financial instruments.

 Impairment testing

 The entity reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.

 The recoverable amounts, or recoverable service amounts, of individual assets have been determined based on the higher of fair value less cost to sell 
and value in use. These calculations require the use of estimates  and  assumptions. Some of the key considerations that were made in arriving at such 
estimates were the maintenance  plans on certain assets, subsequent disbursements, the duration of the lease on property, technological changes in  the 
market, the current conditions of assets, current market values as well as past experience with all  asset  categories.

 It is reasonably possible that assumptions may change which may impact our estimations, however, a material adjustment to the carrying values of 
tangible assets due to revised assumptions is not foreseen.

 Provisions

 Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on information  available.  Additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions 
are included in note 9 -Provisions.

Accounting Policies

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019



68 A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 - 1 9  |  U S A A S A

 Useful lives of property and residual value, plant and equipment and intangible assets

 The entity’s management determines the estimated useful lives, residual value and related depreciation / amortisation charges for property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets. This estimate is based on the pattern in which an asset’s future economic benefits or service potential are expected to 
be consumed by the entity.

 Effective interest rate
 
 The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future cash flows.

 Provision for impairment of financial instruments

 An impairment loss on debtors is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired.   The impairment is measured 
as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate 
computed at initialrecognition.

1.2 Revenue recognition

 Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will 
be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic 
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is 
released to the income statement over the useful life of the relevant asset by equal annualinstalments.

 Revenue received via the National Revenue Fund forms part of the Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services budget vote.

 Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal amount and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity.

1.3 Revenue from non-exchange transactions

 Non-exchange transactions are defined as transactions where the entity receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal 
value in exchange.

 Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in net assets, 
other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction.

 Measurement

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

1.4 Revenue from exchange transactions

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable for goods and services provided 
in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

 Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties and dividends or similar distributions is recognised when:
 • It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, and
 • The amount of the revenue can be measuredreliably.

 An exchange transactions is defined as one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives approximately 
equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

 Interest income is recognised, in surplus or deficit, on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal amount and the effective interest rate over 
the period to maturity.

 Tender levies are recognised as revenue when payment from bidders has been received.

1.1 Significant judgments (continued)

Accounting Policies continued

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019
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1.5 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

 Fruitless expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA “means expenditure which was made in vain and would  have been avoided had reasonable care 
beenexercised”.

 All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financialperformance in the year that the 
expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted 
for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

 Details of fruitless and wasteful expenditure are provided in note 21.

1.6 Irregular expenditure

 Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is:

 “expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable 
legislation, including 

 • this Act;or 
 •  the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act;or
 •  any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government”Details of Irregular expenditure are provided in 

note22.

1.7 Investment policy

 Accumulated funds not committed in the short-term are held in interest-bearing instruments.

1.8 Finance costs

 Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by an entity in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

 

1.9 Statementof materiality andsignificance

 Materiality over the period under review was based on 5% of the appropriated budget for a given year. Quantitative  and qualitative materiality 
are determined by the “USAASA & USAF: Materiality and Significance Framework” which has been prepared in terms of the stipulations of Treasury 
Regulation28.3.1.

1.10 Tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities

 The USAASA is not required to make provision for SA Normal Taxation in the financial statements, since it  is exempted in terms of Section 10(1) cA (i) of 
the Income Tax Act 58 of 1962 as amended. The USAASA is defined as a public authority in terms of the VAT Act 89 of 1991 as amended and is not required 
to register for VAT (Value Added Tax). The USAASA is also exempt from paying Skills Development Levy in terms of Section 4 (d) of the Skills Development 
Levies Act No. 74 of 2002.

1.11 Financial instruments

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest of anotherentity.

 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction.

Accounting Policies continued

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019



70 A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 - 1 9  |  U S A A S A

 The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial   liability is measured at initial recognition 
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment oruncollectibility.

 Classification

 The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement  of financial position or in the 
notesthereto:

 Class     Category
 Loans and receivables    Financial asset measured at amortisedcost

 The entity has the following types of financial liabilities (classes and category) as reflected on the face  of  the statement of financial position or in the 
notesthereto:

 Class     Category
 Trade and other payables    Financial liability measured at amortisedcost

 Initial recognition

 The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

 The entity recognises financial assets using trade dateaccounting.

 Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

 The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are  directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of the financial asset or financialliability.

 The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value [if subsequently measured at fair value].

 Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

 The entity measures all financial assets and financial liabilities after initial recognition using the following categories:
 • Financial instruments at fairvalue.
 • Financial instruments at amortisedcost.
 • Financial instruments atcost.

 All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are subject to an impairment review.

 Fair value measurement considerations

 The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. If the market for a financial instrument is not  active, the entity establishes fair 
value by using a valuation technique. The objective of using a valuation technique is  to establish what the transaction price would have been on the 
measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal operating considerations. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length 
market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially 
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price the 
instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions, the entity uses that 
technique. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs and relies as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. It incorporates 
all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial 
instruments.  Periodically, an entity calibrates the valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable current market transactions 
in the same instrument (i.e. without modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable marketdata.
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 The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the 
first date that the amount could be required to be paid.

 Gains and losses

 A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or financial liability measured at fair value is recognised in surplus or deficit.

 For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when the financial asset or 
financial liability is derecognised or impaired, or through the amortisationprocess.

 Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets

 The entity assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

 Financial assets measured at amortised cost:

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that 
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly OR through 
the  use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in surplus ordeficit.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively   to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed directly OR by adjusting an allowance account. The reversal does not 
result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the 
date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in surplus ordeficit.

 Financial assets measured at cost:

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual interest that is not measured at fair value because 
its fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment 
losses are not reversed.

 Derecognition

 Financial assets
 •  The entity derecognises a financial asset only when:
 •  the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled orwaived;
 •  the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset;  or
 •  the entity, despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, has transferred control of the asset to 

another party and the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability 
unilaterally and without needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer. In this case, the entity:

  - derecognise the asset;and
  - recognise separately any rights and obligations created or retained in thetransfer.

 The carrying amounts of the transferred asset are allocated between the rights or obligations retained and those transferred on the basis of their 
relative fair values at the transfer date. Newly created rights and obligations are measured at their fair values at that date. Any difference between the 
consideration received and the amounts recognised and derecognised is recognised in surplus or deficit in the period of the transfer.

 On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received is recognised 
in surplus or deficit.
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 Financial liabilities

 The entity removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position when it is extinguished — i.e. when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.

 The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in surplus or deficit. Any liabilities that are waived, 
forgiven or assumed by another entity by way of a non-exchange transaction are accounted for in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue 
from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

 Presentation
 
 Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or  expense in surplus ordeficit.

 Dividends or similar distributions relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in 
surplus or deficit.

 Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in surplus ordeficit.

 Distributions to holders of residual interests are recognised by the entity directly in net assets. Transaction costs incurred on residual interests are 
accounted for as a deduction from net assets. Income tax [where applicable] relating to distributions to holders of residual interests and to transaction 
costs incurred on residual interests are accounted for in accordance with the International Accounting Standard on Income Taxes.

 A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when the entity currently 
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liabilitysimultaneously.

 In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the entity does not offset the transferred asset and the associated 
liability.

1.12 Property and equipment

 Property and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the production  or supply of goods or 
services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be  used during more than oneperiod.

 Property and equipment is initially measured at cost.

 The cost of an item of property and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at thecost.

 Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

 Where an item of property and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a combination of monetary and non-
monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed cost is 
the carrying amount of the asset(s) givenup.

 When significant components of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of property and equipment.

 Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, 
or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised.

 The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is  also included in the cost of property 
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and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for 
purposes other than the production ofinventories.

 Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property and equipment ceases when the item is in the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

 Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of an item of property and equipment and which meet the recognition criteria above 
are included as a replacement in the cost of the item of property and equipment. Any remaining inspection costs from the previous inspection 
arederecognised.

 Property and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

 Property and equipment is carried at revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

 Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that  which would be determined using fair 
value at the end of the reportingperiod.

 When an item of property and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is restated proportionately with the 
change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount.

 When an item of property and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

 Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation surplus. The increase is recognised in surplus or 
deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in surplus ordeficit.

 Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus or deficit in the current period. The decrease is debited 
directly to a revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of thatasset.

 The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property and equipment is transferred directly to retained earnings when the asset is 
derecognised.

 The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property and equipment is transferred directly to retained earnings as the asset is used. The 
amount transferred is equal to the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount and depreciation based on the original cost 
of the asset.

 Property and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual value.

 Property and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

 Property and equipment is carried at revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially 
from that which would be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period.

 Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation surplus. The increase is recognised in surplus or 
deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in surplus ordeficit.

 Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus or deficit in the current period. The decrease is debited in 
revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of thatasset.
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 The useful lives of items of property and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Furniture and fittings Straight line 5 years

Motor vehicles Straight line 5 years

Office equipment Straight line 5 years

Computer equipment Straight line 3 years

Leasehold improvements Straight line 5 years

Cellphones Straight line 2 years

 The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life.

 Each part of an item of property and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.

 The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential  are expected to be consumed 
by the entity. The depreciation method applied to an asset is reviewed at least at each reporting date and, if there has been a significant change in the 
expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset, the method is changed to reflect the 
changed pattern. Such a change is accounted for as a change in an accountingestimate.

 The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the entity expectations about the residual value and the useful life of 
an asset have changed since the preceding reporting date. If any such indication exists, the entity revises the expected useful life and/or residual value 
accordingly. The change is accounted for as a change in an accountingestimate.

 The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount  of another asset.

 Items of property and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic benefits or service potential 
expected from the use of theasset.

 The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The 
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if 
any, and the carrying amount of the item.

 Assets which the entity holds for rentals to others and subsequently routinely sell as part of the ordinary course of activities, are transferred to inventories 
when the rentals end and the assets are available-for-sale. Proceeds from sales of these assets are recognised as revenue. All cash flows on these assets are 
included in cash flows from operating activities in the cash flowstatement.

 The entity separately discloses expenditure to repair and maintain property and equipment in the notes to the financial statements (see note ).

 The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to the financial statements (see note ).

1.13 Intangible assets

 An asset is identifiable if it either:
 •  is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or 

together with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of whether the entity intends to do so; or
 •  arises from binding arrangements (including rights from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separable from the entity or 

from other rights andobligations.

 A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as if it were in the form of a contract.

 An intangible asset is recognised when:
 •   it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
 •  the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.
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 The entity assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and supportable assumptions that 
represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

 Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is measured at its fair value as at that 
date.

 Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

 Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

 An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which 
the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for 
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a 
straight line basis over their usefullife.

 The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

 Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the asset may be impaired. As 
a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its usefullife.

 Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as intangible assets.

 Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an intangible asset.

 Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

 Item       Useful life
 Computer software, other     3 years

 The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to the financial statements (see note 3).

1.14 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when:
 • the entity has a present obligation as a result of a pastevent;
 •  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation; and
 • a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

 The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date.

 Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expendituresexpected to be required to settle 
the obligation.

 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it is no longer probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will berequired.

1.15 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events, and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity.

 A contingent liability is:
 •  a possible obligation that arises from past events, and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity; or
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 • a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognisedbecause:
  (i)  it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation;or
  (ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficientreliability.

 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 16.

1.16 Leases

 A lease is classified as a finance lease  if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership  from the lessor to the lessee. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

 Finance leases - lessee

 Assets acquired in terms of finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at the inception of the lease. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding 
liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability.

 Initially finance lease assets are recognised at cost and subsequently carried at the cost less accumulated  depreciation and impairment losses. Finance 
lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the leaseterm.

 Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

 Operating leases - lessee

 Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the amounts recognised as 
an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.17 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets

 Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return. Commercial return means that positive cash flows are 
expected to be significantly higher than the cost of the asset.

 Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s 
future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

 Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment lossesthereon.

 A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

 Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income tax expense.

 Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

 Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less 
the costs of disposal.

 Recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

 Useful life is either:
 • the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the entity; or
 • the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by theentity.
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 Judgments made by management in applying the criteria to designate assets as cash-generating assets or non- cash-generating assets, are as follows:

 Identification
  Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any accumulated depreciation 

and accumulated impairment losses thereon. When the carrying amount of a non-cash- generating asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, it 
isimpaired.

 The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset.

 Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the entity also test a non-cash-generating intangible  asset with an indefinite useful life or 
a non-cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable service 
amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time every year. If an intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, 
that intangible asset was tested for impairment before the end of the current reportingperiod.

 Value in use

 Value in use of non-cash-generating assets is the present value of the non-cash-generating assets remaining service potential.

 The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-cash-generating assets is determined using the following approach:

 Depreciated replacement cost approach

 The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-cash-generating asset is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of the asset. The 
replacement cost of an asset is the cost to replace the asset’s gross service potential. This cost is depreciated to reflect the asset in its used condition. An 
asset may be replaced either through reproduction (replication) of the existing asset or through replacement of its gross service potential. The depreciated 
replacement cost is measured as the reproduction or replacement cost of the asset, whichever is lower, less accumulated depreciation calculated on the 
basis of such cost, to reflect the already consumed or expired service potential of the asset.

 Restoration cost approach

 Restoration cost is the cost of restoring the service potential of an asset to its pre-impaired level. The present value of the remaining service potential of 
the asset is determined by subtracting the estimated restoration cost of the asset from the current cost of replacing the remaining service potential of the 
asset before impairment. The latter cost is determined as the depreciated reproduction or replacement cost of the asset, whichever islower.

 Service units approach

 The present value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined by reducing the current cost of the remaining service potential of the 
asset before impairment, to conform to the reduced number of service  units expected from the asset in its impaired state. The current cost of replacing 
the remaining service potential of the asset before impairment is determined as the depreciated reproduction or replacement cost of the asset before 
impairment, whichever is lower.

 Recognition and measurement

 If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable service amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

 An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

 Any impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

 When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset to which it relates, the entity 
recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the Standards of GRAP.

 After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset   is adjusted in future periods to 
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allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual  value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining usefullife..

 Reversal of impairment loss

 The entity assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating 
asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of that asset.

 An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable service amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
service amount. The increase is a  reversal of an impairment loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in priorperiods.

 A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. 

 Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

 After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash- generating asset is adjusted in future periods 
to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount,  less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining usefullife.

 Redesignation

 The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash- generating asset to a cash-generating asset 
only occur when there is clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate.

1.18 Employee benefits

 Defined contribution plans

 Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

 Short-term employee benefits

 The cost of short-term employee benefits (i.e. those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation leave, sick leave, 
bonuses and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are notdiscounted.

 The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or when the 
absence occurs (in the case of non-accumulating absences).

1.19 Inventories

 Inventories are initially measured at cost except where inventories are acquired through a non-exchange transaction, then their costs are their fair value as 
at the date of acquisition.

 Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where they are held for;
 • distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge;or
 • consumption in the production process of goods to be distributed at no charge or for a nominalcharge.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale, exchange or distribution.

 Current replacement cost is the cost the entity incurs to acquire the asset on the reporting date.

1.17 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets (continued)

Accounting Policies continued
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 The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition.

 The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced and  segregated for specific projects is assigned 
using specific identification of the individualcosts.

 The cost of inventories is assigned using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) formula. The same cost formula is used for all inventories having a similar nature and 
use to the entity.

 When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is 
recognised. If there is no related revenue, the expenses are recognised when the goodsare distributed, or related services are rendered. The amount of 
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value   or current replacement cost and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period 
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value or current 
replacement cost, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversaloccurs.

1.20 Share capital / contributed capital

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of   itsliabilities.

1.21 Budget information

 Budget information is disclosed in terms of GRAP 24 - Budget information which requires that entities, in their general purpose financial reporting, provide 
information  on whether resources were obtained and used in accordance with  their legally adoptedbudgets.

 The approved budget is prepared on an accruals basis and covers the period from 01/04/2018 to 31/03/2019.

 The financial statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting therefore a comparison with the budgeted amounts for the reporting 
period have been included in the Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amount.

 Comparative information is not required.

1.22 Related Parties

 Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant  influence over the other party in making 
financial and operating decisions or if the related party entity and another  entity are subject to common control. Related partiesinclude:

 •  Entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by the reporting entity
 •  Key management personnel, and close members of the family of key managementpersonnel

 A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price 
is charged. Related party transactions exclude transactions with any other entity that is a related party solely because of its economic dependence on the 
reporting entity or the government of which it forms part.

 Where the entity has had related party transactions during the periods covered by the financial statements, disclosure is made of the nature of the related 
party relationship as well as information about those transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, necessary for users to understand 
the potential effect of the relationship on the financialstatements.

 The entity operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South African Government. As a 
consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of government in South Africa, only entities within the national sphere of 
government are considered to be relatedparties.

 Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including those charged with the 
governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are required to perform such functions.

 Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that 
management in their dealings with the entity.

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
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 Only transactions with related parties not at arm’s length or not in the ordinary course of business are disclosed.

 Related party transaction and outstanding balances or commitments owing between the reporting entity and related parties are disclosed in note 17 to 
the financial statements. Remuneration of key management personnel is disclosed in note18.

1.23 Events after the reporting date

 Events after the reporting date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date and the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue. Such events are of two types:

 •  those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events after thereporting date);and
 •  those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reportingdate).

 No events after the reporting date were identified that are relevant to the year in review.

1.17 Related Parties (continued)

Accounting Policies continued
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2. Property and equipment

2019 2018

Cost / Valuation Accumulated 
depreciation and 

accumulated 
impairment

Carrying value Cost / Valuation Accumulated 
depreciation and 

accumulated 
impairment

Carrying value

Computer Equipment 8 189 (7246) 943 10 683 (8766) 1917

Furniture and fixtures 2 635 (2633) 2 2 901 (2836) 65

Motor vehicles 898 (480) 418 898 (835) 63

Office equipment 742 (640) 102 1 766 (1556) 210

Leasehold improvements 1 980 (1980) - 3 546 (3466) 80

Cellphones 727 (676) 51 780 (588) 192

Total 15 171 (13655) 1516 20 574 (18047) 2527

Reconciliation of property and equipment - 2019

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Computer Equipment 1 917 313 (1) (1 286) 943

Furniture and fixtures 65 - - (63) 2

Motor vehicles 63 - - 355 418

Office equipment 210 - (4) (104) 102

Leasehold improvements 80 - (5) (75) -

Cellphones 192 - - (141) 51

2 527 313 (10) (1 314) 1 516

Reconciliation of property and equipment - 2018

Opening
balance

Additions Depreciation Total

Computer Equipment 3 775 - (1858) 1 917

Furniture and fixtures 329 - (264) 65

Motor vehicles 243 - (180) 63

Office equipment 346 19 (155) 210

Leasehold improvements 204 - (124) 80

Cellphones 215 265 (288) 192

5 112 284 (2 869) 2 527

Management assessed the useful lives of assets during the 2018/19 financial year. This was done in order to determine if the initial estimates of useful lives are 
still applicable. As a result of the assessment done, it was determined that the useful lives of the existing motor vehicles has to be extended due to the assets 
still being used by the Agency and expected to be used in the foreseeable future. The estimate was changed from initial 5 years to 10 years. This has resulted in 
changes in the actual and expected depreciation expense which the effect is as follows:

2019  2020  2021  2022  2023  2024
R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000
(417)  90  90  90  90  31

The estimated useful lives of other asset categories were not revised.
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3. Intangible assets
2019 2018

Cost / Valuation Accumulated 
depreciation and 

accumulated 
impairment

Carrying value Cost / Valuation Accumulated 
depreciation and 

accumulated 
impairment

Carrying value

Computer software 40 552 (27 216) 13 336 41 118 (14 556) 26 562

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018 Opening 
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 26 562 79 (13 305) 13 336

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018

Opening 
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 49 39 843 (13330) 26 562

Intangible assets under development 39 843 (39 843) - -

39 892 - (13 330) 26 562

2019
‘000

2018
‘000

4. Inventories

Inventories 5 5

5. Loans and receivables

Fair value adjustment - Receivables (29) (25)

Universal Service and Access Fund 12 128

Prepayments 660 2 194

Office rent deposits 293 255

936 2 552

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand - 1

Bank balances 269 211

Call Account 20 812 32 003

21 081 32 215

Notes to the Audited Annual Financial Statements 
continued
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2019
‘000

2018
‘000

7. Finance lease obligation

Minimum lease payments due

within one year 51 141

in second to fifth year inclusive - 51

Present value of minimum lease payments 51 192

Non-current liabilities - 51

Current liabilities 51 141

51 192

8. Trade and other payables

Trade payables 1 885 193

Operating lease payables 5 5

Accruals 2 850 8 275

Universal Service and Access Fund - (1)

4 740 8 472

9. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2019

Opening 
Balance

Additions Utilised 
during the 

year

Reversed 
during the 

year

Total

Annual Bonus 324 355 (324) - 355

Leave 1 832 1 654 (226) (1 606) 1 654

Workmen’s compensation 242 196 - - 438

2 398 2 205 (550) (1 606) 2 447

Reconciliation of provisions - 2018

Opening 
Balance

Additions Utilised 
during the 

year

Reversed 
during the 

year

Total

Annual Bonus - 13th Cheque 240 324 (240) - 324

Leave 1 547 1 832 (188) (1 359) 1 832

Workmen’s compensation 163 242 - (163) 242

1 950 2 398 (428) (1 522) 2 398

Universal Service and Access Agency of South Africa 
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Notes to the Audited Annual Financial Statements 
continued



84 A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 - 1 9  |  U S A A S A

2019
‘000

2018
‘000

10. Revenue

Government grants & subsidies 80 074 75 684

Interest received - investment 1 707 4 399

Recoveries 125 20

81 906 80 103

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services are as follows:

Recoveries 125 20

Interest received - investment 1 707 4 399

1 832 4 419

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:

Transfer revenue

Department of Telecommunication and Postal Services 80 074 75 684

11. Staff costs

Wages and salaries

- Basic salaries 44 669 40 935

- Other non-pensionable allowance 828 839

- Workmen’s compensation 196 242

- Leave provision adjustment (177) 285

- Overtime pay 47 24

Social contributions (Employer’s contributions)

- Medical aid 273 270

- Unemployment insurance fund 106 97

- Provident Fund 1 839 1 614

47 781 44 306

Number of employees 59 66

Notes to the Audited Annual Financial Statements 
continued
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2019
‘000

2018
‘000

12. General expenses

Advertising 4 1

Auditors remuneration 840 607

Bank charges 39 38

Consulting and professional fees 11 987 7 978

Delivery expenses 19 -

Insurance 361 411

Conferences and seminars 138 502

Marketing 653 236

Postage and courier 54 25

Printing and stationery 729 565

Repairs and maintenance 257 189

Research and development costs 609 -

Royalties and license fees 2 175 1 428

Security 322 313

Staff welfare & domestic services 160 145

Subscription fees 65 288

Information and telecommunication costs 3 718 3 354

Travel 2 602 4 207

Electricity and municipal services 1 014 809

Board and committee fees 1 732 1 464

Catering and refreshments 206 179

27 684 22 739

.
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2019
‘000

2018
‘000

13. Operating surplus (deficit)

Operating surplus (deficit) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges

Premises

•  Contractual amounts 4522 4142

Plant and equipmen

•  Contractual amounts 483 417

Lease rentals on operating lease

•  Contractualamounts 1 11

5 006 4 570

Loss on sale of property and equipment (11) -

Amortisation on intangible assets 13 305 13 330

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 1 314 2 870

Employee costs 47 781 44 306

Research and development 609 -

14. Cash used in operations

Deficit (23 165) (84 237)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 14 619 16 200

Loss (gain) on sale of assets 11 -

Fair value adjustments 4 18

Movements in provisions 49 (448)

Interest income (1 768) (4 399)

Other Income (125) -

Interest Paid 18 -

Changes in working capital:

Loans and receivables 1 616 (1 056)

Trade and other payables (3 734) (3 332)

(12 475) (77 254)

Notes to the Audited Annual Financial Statements 
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2019
‘000

2018
‘000

15. Commitments

Operating lease commitments

Total future minimum lease payments due

Already contracted for but not provided for

• Within oneyear 556 1 971

• In second to fifth year inclusive 1 779 899

2 335 2 870

Total operational commitments

Already contracted for but not provided for 2 335 2 870

The operating lease commitments relate to the leases of office building for the Head office and regional offices.

Service Contracts

At the reporting date the entity had outstanding commitments due to contracts with suppliers,
which fall due as follows:

- within one year 7 704 6 847

- in second to fifth year inclusive 299 -

8 003 6 847

The commitment amounts are future payments of operational non-cancellable contracts.

The amount presented under the commitments of the previous year excluded R5.743m relating to a service contract as it 
was not known if the service was concluded or not. The comparitive figures have now been adjusted accordingly.
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16. Contingencies 

Liabilities

The total amount for Contingent Liabilities is R129.369m ( 2017/18 - R461m)

1. MZUMBE EKHAYA vUSAASA:

This matter is based on alleged breach of contract by USAASA. Mzumbe Ekhaya is seeking payment of R8m for damages or reinstatement of the consulting 
agreement. Potential liability R8m.

2. DUMATRAVEL

Duma Travel issued summons against the Agency for services rendered and not been paid for. Potential Liability R169k.

3. Leratadima

Arbitration postponed sine die. suppliers of DTT devices exercised the arbitration clause of the Supply and Delivery Agreement and instituted proceedings 
against USAASA. The total statement of the claim is R118 million. This will be defended by USAASA.

4. Labour matters.

USAASA is currently embroiled in the CCMA with 3 senior employees challenging their dismissals by claiming reinstatement.The legal counsel estimated the 
financial exposure of approximately R3 million.

USAASA is engaged inlitigation with 8 employees who received increases in salary which USAASA is challenging.The legal counsel estimate the financial 
exposure of approximately 200K.

Assets.

Total amount for contingent assets is R8.041m (2017/18 - R172K)

1. DIATLA TSE BORUTHO(DIATLA).

Recovery of VAT in the sum of R34k. Default judgment was granted against the defendant.

2. CZ Electronics

Recovery of 75% of the legal costs in the arbitration. The costs are estimated at R6.8m and still need to be taxed.

3. NOKOAIRLINKS

Recovery of legal costs in the urgent application and the arbitration. Amount estimated at R695k and still need to be taxed.

4. Lumko Mtimde v USAASA

The recovery of legal costs in the sum of R512k. The tax invoice was already served on the applicant.

Notes to the Audited Annual Financial Statements 
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2019
‘000

2018
‘000

17. Related parties

Relationships

Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services Administrative arm of shareholer

Universal Service and Access Fund Fund Management

South African Post Office Entity controlled by the same shareholder

Related party transactions

Name of Entity

Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services 80 074 75 684

South African Post Office - 64 861

South African Postal Office - Doc Exch 33 32

In 2018 the related party transaction note in connection with South African Post Office - Doc Exchange was reported on cash basis with an amount of R35k. In 
2019 financial year the amount has been revised to R32k as it is reported on an accrual basis.

18. Remuneration of key management 

Executive management

2019 Salary Acting
allowance

Other
allowances

Total

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

Mr. L. Mtimde - CEO (Appointed 23 May 2016) 1 587 - 123 1 710

Ms. S.J. Motloung - Company Secretary (Appointed 11 December 2017) 1 382 - - 1 382

Mr. Mngqibisa - Executive Manager:Performance Management (Appointed 1 October 2017) 1 272 31 111 1 414

Mr. M. Chowan - CFO (Appointed 17 October 2016) 1 364 - 78 1 442

Mr. S. Ndaba - Executive Manager: Operations (Appointed 1 January 2018) 1 456 - 2 1 458

Mr. M.M. Ngidi - Executive Manager: Corporate Services (Appointed 9 September 2015) 599 - 72 671

Mr. W. Olivier - Acting Executive Manager: Corporate Services (Appointed 1 June 2017) - 184 - 184

Ms. R. Mahloko - Acting Executive Manager: Performance 
(Appointed 14 May 2018 - Ended 7 September 2018)

- 225 - 225

7 660 440 386 8 486
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18. Remuneration of key management (continued)

Executive management

2018 Salary Acting
allowance

Other
allowances

Total

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

Mr. L. Mtimde - CEO (Appointed 23 May 2016) 1 549 - 62 1 611

Ms. S.J Motloung - Company Secretary (Appointed 11 December 2018) 405 - 1 406

Mr. Mngqibisa - Executive Manager : PMU (Appointed 01 October 2017) 1 174 14 62 1 250

Mr. M. Chowan - CFO (Appointed 17 October 2016) 1 290 - 62 1 352

Ms. M.P. Rakhatoe - Acting Company Secretary 1 290 - 62 1 352

Mr. M.M. Ngidi - Corporate Services (Appointed 9 September 2015) - 369 - 369

Mr. W. Olivier - Acting Executive Manager: Corporate Services (Appointed 01 June2017) - 149 - 149

Mr. M. Nkune - Acting Executive Manager: Operations (Appointed 2 May 2017) - 61 - 61

Mr. S. Ndaba - Executive Manager: Operations (Appointed 01 January 2018) 337 - 8 345

5 740 593 346 6 679

2019
‘000

2018
‘000

Non executive directors

Mr. M. Cawe - Chairperson (Terminated 30 August 2018) 165 291

Mr. N. Nqandela (Resigned 15 August 2018) 65 167

Ms. L. Shandu (Terminated 30 August 2018) 156 247

Ms. T. Maloka (Terminated 30 August 2018) 45 117

Mr. L.C. Nene (Terminated 30 August 2018) 111 185

Mr. W. Huma (Appointed 30 August 2018) 245 -

Mrs. N. Kuttla-Ndlovu (Resigned 31 January 2019) 116 -

Ms. M. Moropa (Appointed 30 August 2018) 201 -

Mr. S.J Ngubane (Appointed 30 August 2018) 154 -

Mr. S.R Dube (Appointed 30 August 2018)) 164 -

Mr. X. Stock (Terminated 30 August 2018) 65 173

Ms. J. Nkosi (Terminated 30 August 2018) 187 221

674 401

Board and Audit Risk Committee

Mr. L.C. Nene - Chairperson (Terminated 30 August 2018) 28 45

Ms. J. Nkosi (Terminated 30 August 2018) 26 36

Ms. T. Maloka (Terminated 30 August 2018) 18 13

Mr. X. Stock (Terminated 30 August 2018) 13 31

Mr.SR. Dube (Appointed 30 August 2018) - Chairpeson 11 -

Mr. S.J. Ngubane (Appointed 30 August 2018) 9 -

Ms. M.Moropa (Appointed 30 August 2018) 4 -

109 125
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2019
‘000

2018
‘000

19. Prior period adjustments

Invoices for legal services amounting to R 468 578 relating to 2017/18 financial year were not recorded in 2017/18 financial year. Invoice for bursaries amounting 
to R20 650 relating to 2017/18 financial year were not recorded in 2017/18 financial year. Travel accruals amounted to R737 851,64 were errorneously raised in 
2017/18 but reversed in 2018/19 financial year. Prior years pay progression amounting to R226 366,08 were only paid in 2018/19 financial year and no provisions 
were recorded. Reversal of R10 140 related to double counting of Salary account. General expenses amounting to R466 600,55 relating to 2017/18 financial year, 
were not recorded in 2017/18 financial year.

The leave provision of 2017/18 financial year was reduced by R339 755.

Statement of Financial Position

Decrease in trade and other payables - (418)

Decrease provision - 340

Increase in Accumulated surplus - (78)

Statement of Financial Performance

Decrease in staff costs expenses - (103)

Decrease in General expenses - (288)

Increase in Legal fees - 469

Decrease in deficit from operations - (78)

20. Risk management 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will be unable to meet a financial commitment. This risk is minimized through the holding of cash balances and 
sufficient borrowing facilities. In addition, detailed cash flow forecast are regularly prepared and future commitments and credit balances are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis.

Interest rate risk

The carrying amount of the Agency’s financial assets at balance sheet date that are subject to interest rate risk is disclosed in note 6. The size of the Agency’s 
position does not expose it to significant interest rate risk. Any risk is managed through the term structure utilized when placing deposits.

The Agency is sensitive to movements in interest rates which is the primary interest rate to which the Agency is exposed. Management has performed a 
sensitivity analysis and found that if the interest rate increased or decreased by 50 basis points, the impact on surpluses or deficits would be negligible for both 
the current and prior financial year.

Credit risk

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash deposits and cash equivalents. Credit risk arises from the risk that a counter-party may default or 
not meet its obligations in sufficient time. The Agency minimizes credit risk by depositing cash with major banks with high quality credit standing.
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2019
‘000

2018
‘000

21. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Opening balance 88 88

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – current year 18 -

106 88

Analysis of fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Incident Disciplinary steps/Comments

1. Interest charges    
 

 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure relates to the interest 
charged on late payment of office rental due to contract 
negotiations for extension

8 -

1. SARS Penalties and Interest SARS Penalties and Interest due to incorrect PAYE returns 10 -

- -

18 -

22. Irregular expenditure

Reconciliation of irregular expenditure

Opening balance 5 600 2 528

Irregular expenditure - current year 24 891 3 072

30 491 5 600

Analysis of irregular expenditure

Incident Disciplinarysteps/Comment

1. Non compliance with SCM and Procedures SCM process were not followed. Extention of Scope with-
out following SCM process

20 151 -

2. Non compliance to SCM policy and procedure No prior approval for single sourcesupplier - 71

3. Non compliance to SCM procedures Expenditure beyond contract period 4 289 2 258

4. Non compliance to National Treasury regulations - 195

5. Non compliance to SCM procedures As per SIU report - Refer to the narration below 255 -

6. Non compliance with DPSA circular As per Public Protector report 196 59

7. Non compliance with SCM procedures - 483

8. Non compliance with SCM  No three quotations sourced - 6

24 891 3 072

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

Current year 24 891 3 072

Prior years 5 600 2 528

30 491 5 600

Notes to the Audited Annual Financial Statements 
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Irregular expenditure’, as defined in Section 1 of the PFMA, to the total value of approximately R255k, which were identified by an investigation conducted by 
the Special Investigating Unit in terms of Proclamation No. R. 20 of 2014 as was published in Government Gazette No. 37496 dated 28 March 2014. The irregular 
expenditure was reported to the USAASA on or about 04th Oct. 2018. The irregular expenditure emanated from procurement processes conducted by USAASA 
in contravention of the laws regulating public sector procurement (e.g. Section 217 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996, as inter alia read 
with Section 38(1)(a)(iii) of the PFMA, applicable National Treasury Regulations and the SCM Policy of USAASA) for the financial year 2012/2013. As at date of this 
note, the ‘irregular expenditure’ has not yet been condoned.

The Board resolved on the 30th April 2019 for an investigation to be conducted into the irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure.

The investigation has commenced.

  

2019
‘000

2018
‘000

23. Lease rentals on operating lease

Premises

Contractual amounts 4 522 4 142

Plant and equipment

Contractual amounts 483 417

Lease rentals on operating lease - 2

Contractual amounts 1 11

5 006 4 570

24. Other revenue

Recoveries 125 20

25. Investment revenue

Interest revenue
Bank 1 707 4 399
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2019
‘000

2018
‘000

26. Government grants and subsidies

Operating grants

Government grant 80 074 75 684

27. Administrative expenditure

Administration and management fees - related party 9 948 19 717

28. Finance costs

Late payment of tax 18 -

29. Fair value adjustments

Other financial assets

•  Fair value adjustments on receivables at 10% rate (4) (18)

30. Auditors’ remuneration

Fees 840 607
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